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PART I
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position,
business strategy and plans and our objectives for future operations. The words "may," "will," "should," "could," "expect," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate,"
"intend," "continue" and other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward looking statements largely on
current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business
strategy, short-term and long-term business operations and objectives, and financial needs. These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that
could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are
not limited to, volatility in our revenue and operating results; risks related to our business strategy, including our strategy to grow our local marketplaces,
marketing strategy and spend and the productivity of those marketing investments; effectively dealing with challenges arising from our international operations,
including fluctuations in currency exchange rates and any potential adverse impact from the United Kingdom's likely exit from the European Union; retaining
existing customers and adding new customers; retaining and adding high quality merchants; cyber security breaches; incurring expenses as we expand our
business; competing successfully in our industry; maintaining favorable payment terms with our business partners; providing a strong mobile experience for our
customers; delivery and routing of our emails; product liability claims; managing inventory and order fulfillment risks; integrating our technology platforms;
litigation; managing refund risks; retaining, attracting and integrating members of our executive team; difficulties, delays or our inability to successfully complete
all or part of the announced restructuring actions or to realize the operating efficiencies and other benefits of such restructuring actions; higher than anticipated
restructuring charges or changes in the timing of such restructuring charges; completing and realizing the anticipated benefits from acquisitions, dispositions, joint
ventures and strategic investments; tax liabilities; tax legislation; compliance with domestic and foreign laws and regulations, including the CARD Act and
regulation of the Internet and e-commerce; classification of our independent contractors; maintaining our information technology infrastructure; protecting our
intellectual property; maintaining a strong brand; seasonality; customer and merchant fraud; payment-related risks; our ability to raise capital if necessary and our
outstanding indebtedness; global economic uncertainty; the impact of our ongoing strategic review and any potential strategic alternatives we may choose to
pursue; our senior convertible notes; our ability to realize the anticipated benefits from the hedge and warrant transactions; and those risks and other factors
discussed in Part I, "Item 1A: Risk Factors" of our 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 , as well as in our condensed
consolidated financial statements, related notes, and the other financial information appearing elsewhere in this report and our other filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or the SEC. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not
possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of
factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. We do not intend, and undertake no
obligation, to update any of our forward-looking statements after the date of this report to reflect actual results or future events or circumstances. Given these risks
and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.
As used herein, "Groupon," "we," "our," and similar terms include Groupon, Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise.
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ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GROUPON, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
March 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

(unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

690,975

$

862,977

Accounts receivable, net

63,732

71,272

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

88,512

94,441

Current assets of discontinued operations

—

63,246

843,219

1,091,936

Property, equipment and software, net

158,222

169,452

Goodwill

275,978

274,551

37,995

42,915

145,003

141,882

Total current assets

Intangible assets, net
Investments (including $112,606 and $110,066 at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, at fair value)
Deferred income taxes
Other non-current assets
Non-current assets of discontinued operations

5,118

5,151

18,300

23,484

—
$

Total Assets

12,006

1,483,835

$

18,805

$

1,761,377

Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable

$

28,551

Accrued merchant and supplier payables

637,693

770,992

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

335,531

366,456

Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Total current liabilities
Convertible senior notes, net
Deferred income taxes
Other non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations
Total Liabilities

—

47,052

992,029

1,213,051

181,582

178,995

1,745

1,714

97,090

99,628

—

2,927

1,272,446

1,496,315

Commitments and contingencies (see Note 7)
Stockholders' Equity
Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, 2,010,000,000 shares authorized, 741,388,884 shares issued and 562,356,295 shares
outstanding at March 31, 2017 and 736,531,771 shares issued and 564,835,863 shares outstanding at December 31, 2016
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock, at cost, 179,032,589 shares at March 31, 2017 and 171,695,908 shares at December 31, 2016
Accumulated deficit

74

74

2,127,405

2,112,728

(833,451)

(807,424)

(1,126,658)

(1,099,010)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

42,795

58,052

Total Groupon, Inc. Stockholders' Equity

210,165

264,420

Noncontrolling interests
Total Equity
$

Total Liabilities and Equity

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1,224

642

211,389

265,062

1,483,835

$

1,761,377

GROUPON, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

Revenue:
Third-party and other

$

Direct
Total revenue

301,577

$

309,629

372,049

388,806

673,626

698,435

Cost of revenue:
Third-party and other
Direct
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit

42,873

41,060

321,302

337,273

364,175

378,333

309,451

320,102

Operating expenses:
Marketing
Selling, general and administrative
Restructuring charges

86,342

87,295

232,046

262,978

2,731

11,513

Acquisition-related expense (benefit), net
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) from continuing operations before provision (benefit) for income
taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Income (loss) from continuing operations

12

3,464

321,131

365,250

(11,680)

(45,148)

(4,602)

2,618

(16,282)

(42,530)

4,587

1,009

(20,869)

(43,539)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

487

Net income (loss)

(2,057)

(20,382)

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

(45,596)

(4,032)

Net income (loss) attributable to Groupon, Inc.

(3,523)

$

(24,414)

$

(49,119)

$

(0.04)

$

(0.08)

$

(0.08)

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share (1) :
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

—
$

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share

(0.04)

—

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (1)

(1)

Basic

562,195,243

582,751,678

Diluted

562,195,243

582,751,678

The structure of the Company's common stock changed during the year ended December 31, 2016. Refer to Note 8, Stockholders' Equity and Compensation Arrangements ,
and Note 12, Income (Loss) per Share , for additional information.

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GROUPON, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017
Income (loss) from continuing operations

$

2016
(20,869)

$

(43,539)

Other comprehensive income (loss) from continuing operations:
Foreign currency translation adjustments:
Net unrealized gain (loss) during the period
Reclassification adjustments included in income (loss) from continuing operations
Net change in unrealized gain (loss)

617

(3,796)

(187)

1,462

430

(2,334)

Defined benefit pension plan adjustments:
Curtailment gain
Amortization of pension net actuarial gain (loss) to earnings
Net change in unrealized gain (loss) (net of tax effect of $0 and $4 for the three
months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively)
Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities (net of tax effect
of $147 and $0 for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively)
Other comprehensive income (loss) from continuing operations
Comprehensive income (loss) from continuing operations

Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Other comprehensive income (loss) from discontinued operations - Foreign currency
translation adjustments:

583

—

2

27

585

27

239

(116)

1,254

(2,423)

(19,615)

(45,962)

487

Net unrealized gain (loss) during the period
Reclassification adjustment included in net income (loss) from discontinued
operations
Net change in unrealized gain (loss)

(2,057)

(1,793)

(429)

(14,718)

—

(16,511)

(429)

Comprehensive income (loss) from discontinued operations

(16,024)

(2,486)

Comprehensive income (loss)

(35,639)

(48,448)

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests

(4,032)
$

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Groupon, Inc.

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(39,671)

(3,523)
$

(51,971)

GROUPON, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in thousands, except share amounts)
(unaudited)
Groupon, Inc. Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock

Shares

Balance at December 31, 2016

Amount

$

Additional
Paid-In Capital

Shares

(171,695,908)

Amount

Accumulated
Deficit

$ (807,424)

$ (1,099,010)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Groupon,
Inc.
Stockholders'
Equity

Noncontrolling
Interests

$

$ 264,420

$

58,052

74

$ 2,112,728

—

—

—

—

—

(3,234)

—

(3,234)

—

(3,234)

Net income (loss)

—

—

—

—

—

(24,414)

—

(24,414)

4,032

(20,382)

Foreign currency translation

—

—

—

—

—

—

(16,081)

—

(16,081)

Pension liability adjustments, net of tax
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net
of tax

—

—

—

—

—

—

585

585

—

585

(16,081)

642

Total
Equity

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

Exercise of stock options
Vesting of restricted stock units and performance share
units

736,531,771

Treasury Stock

$ 265,062

—

—

—

—

—

—

239

239

—

239

4,701

—

10

—

—

—

—

10

—

10

5,995,204

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Shares issued under employee stock purchase plan
877,845
Tax withholdings related to net share settlements of stockbased compensation awards
(2,020,637)
Stock-based compensation expense on equity-classified
awards
—

—

2,458

—

—

—

—

2,458

—

2,458

—

(8,174)

—

—

—

—

(8,174)

—

(8,174)

—

20,383

—

—

—

20,383

—

20,383

Purchases of treasury stock

—

—

—

—

—

(26,027)

—

(26,027)

Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders

—

—

—

—

—

—

74

$ 2,127,405

42,795

$ 210,165

Balance at March 31, 2017

741,388,884

$

—
(7,336,681)
—
(179,032,589)

(26,027)
—
$ (833,451)

$ (1,126,658)

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

(3,450)
$ 1,224

(3,450)
$ 211,389

GROUPON, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

Operating activities
Net income (loss)

$

(20,382)

Less: Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

$

487

Income (loss) from continuing operations

(45,596)
(2,057)

(20,869)

(43,539)

28,667

29,761

5,400

4,654

19,701

30,093

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and software
Amortization of acquired intangible assets
Stock-based compensation
Restructuring-related long-lived asset impairments

—

Deferred income taxes
(Gain) loss, net from changes in fair value of contingent consideration
(Gain) loss from changes in fair value of investments
Amortization of debt discount on convertible senior notes

45

(74)

(2,310)

12

3,442

(303)

1,100

2,587

—

1,853

502

Change in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions and dispositions:
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued merchant and supplier payables
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Other, net
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from continuing operations
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from discontinued operations
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

10,594

(5,763)

5,380

18,939

(13,184)

(1,499)

(138,238)

(109,264)

(36,040)

11,967

(1,719)

(12,905)

(136,233)

(74,777)

(1,098)

(1,948)

(137,331)

(76,725)

(14,076)

(19,852)

Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software
Cash derecognized upon dispositions of subsidiaries

—

(40)

Acquisitions of intangible assets and other investing activities

56

(786)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities from continuing operations

(14,020)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities from discontinued operations

(20,678)

(7,547)

(100)

(21,567)

(20,778)

(27,234)

(64,665)

(8,970)

(4,964)

2,468

1,933

Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders

(3,450)

(3,365)

Payments of capital lease obligations

(8,067)

(6,954)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Financing activities
Payments for purchases of treasury stock
Taxes paid related to net share settlements of stock-based compensation awards
Proceeds from stock option exercises and employee stock purchase plan

Other financing activities

(473)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

—

(45,726)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents, including cash classified within current assets of discontinued operations

(78,015)

3,756

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, including cash classified within current assets of discontinued operations

10,668

(200,868)

Less: Net increase (decrease) in cash classified within current assets of discontinued operations

(164,850)

(28,866)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

3,993

(172,002)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

(168,843)

862,977
$

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

690,975

824,307
$

Non-cash investing and financing activities
Continuing operations:
Equipment acquired under capital lease obligations
Leasehold improvements funded by lessor

$

1,340
—

$

1,163
4,809

655,464

Liability for purchases of treasury stock

—

Increase (decrease) in liabilities related to purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software
Cost method and available-for-sale investments acquired in connection with business dispositions

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(1,185)
2,022

2,965
3,928
—

GROUPON, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Company Information
Groupon, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company"), which commenced operations in October 2008, operates online local commerce marketplaces
throughout the world that connect merchants to consumers by offering goods and services, generally at a discount. Consumers access those marketplaces through
the Company's websites, primarily localized groupon.com sites in many countries, and its mobile applications.
The Company's operations are organized into two segments: North America and International. See Note 13, Segment Information .
Prior period amounts in the condensed consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to reflect discontinued operations presentation. See Note 2,
Discontinued Operations , for additional information.
Unaudited Interim Financial Information
The Company has prepared the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission ("SEC") for interim financial reporting. These condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and, in the Company's opinion,
include all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments and accruals, necessary for a fair presentation of the Company's condensed consolidated
balance sheets, statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), cash flows and stockholders' equity for the periods presented. Operating results for the
periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year ending December 31, 2017 . Certain information and disclosures
normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") have been omitted in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. These condensed consolidated financial statements and notes should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements and notes included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 , filed with the SEC on
February 15, 2017, as amended by the Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2016 , filed with the SEC on March 22, 2017.
Principles of Consolidation
The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company's condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and include the
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of all wholly-owned subsidiaries and majority-owned subsidiaries over which the Company exercises control and variable
interest entities for which the Company has determined that it is the primary beneficiary. Outside stockholders' interests in subsidiaries are shown on the condensed
consolidated financial statements as "Noncontrolling interests." Equity investments in entities in which the Company does not have a controlling financial interest
are accounted for under the equity method, the cost method, the fair value option or as available-for-sale securities, as appropriate.
Adoption of New Accounting Standards
The Company adopted the guidance in ASU 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330) - Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory , on January 1, 2017. This ASU
requires inventory to be measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value, rather than the lower of cost or market. The adoption of ASU 2015-11 did not have a
material impact on the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.
The Company adopted the guidance in ASU 2016-16, Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory (Topic 740) on January 1, 2017. This ASU
requires immediate recognition of the income tax consequences of intercompany asset transfers other than inventory. The Company recorded a $3.2 million
cumulative effect adjustment to increase its accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2017 to recognize the impact of that change in accounting policy.
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GROUPON, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the condensed consolidated financial statements of prior periods and the accompanying notes to conform to
the current period presentation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts and classifications of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses, and the related disclosures of contingent liabilities in the condensed consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, stock-based compensation, income taxes, valuation of acquired goodwill
and intangible assets, investments, customer refunds, contingent liabilities and the useful lives of property, equipment and software and intangible assets. Actual
results could differ materially from those estimates.
2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
In October 2016, the Company completed a strategic review of its international markets in connection with its efforts to optimize its global footprint and
focus on the markets that it believes have the greatest potential to benefit the Company's long-term financial performance. Based on that review, the Company
decided to focus its business on 15 core countries and to pursue strategic alternatives for its operations in the remaining 11 countries, which were primarily based
in Asia and Latin America. As described below, the dispositions of the Company's operations in those 11 countries were completed between November 2016 and
March 2017.
A business disposition that represents a strategic shift and has (or will have) a major effect on an entity's operations and financial results is reported as a
discontinued operation. The Company determined that the decision reached by its management and Board of Directors to exit those 11 non-core countries, which
comprised a substantial majority of its operations outside of North America and EMEA, represented a strategic shift in its business. Additionally, based on its
review of quantitative and qualitative factors relevant to the dispositions, the Company determined that the disposition of the businesses in those 11 countries will
have a major effect on its operations and financial results. As such, the financial position and results of operations and cash flows for its operations in those 11
countries, including the gains and losses on the dispositions and related income tax effects, are presented as discontinued operations in the accompanying
condensed consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2016 and for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016.
Groupon Israel
On March 21, 2017, the Company sold an 83% controlling stake in its subsidiary in Israel. The Company recognized a pretax gain on the disposition of
$1.8 million , which represents the excess of (a) the sum of (i) $2.3 million in net consideration received, consisting of the $0.4 million fair value of its retained
minority investment and $2.0 million to be received in cash, less $0.1 million in transaction costs, and (ii) a $0.2 million cumulative translation gain, which was
reclassified to earnings, over (b) the $0.7 million net book value upon the closing of the transaction. The amount of cash proceeds to be received in connection with
this transaction may change due to final working capital adjustments. See Note 4, Investments , for additional information about this transaction.
Groupon Singapore
On March 10, 2017, the Company sold its subsidiary in Singapore in exchange for a convertible debt investment in the acquirer. The Company
recognized a pretax loss on the disposition of $0.5 million , which represents the excess of (a) the sum of (i) the $0.5 million net book value upon closing of the
transaction and (ii) a $1.1 million cumulative translation loss, which was reclassified to earnings, over (b) $1.1 million in net consideration received, consisting of
the $1.6 million fair value of the investment acquired, less $0.5 million in transaction costs. The Company did not receive any cash proceeds in connection with the
transaction. See Note 4, Investments , for additional information about this transaction.
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GROUPON, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)
Groupon Hong Kong
On March 3, 2017, the Company sold its subsidiary in Hong Kong. The Company recognized a pretax gain on the disposition of $0.3 million , consisting
of the $0.2 million negative net book value upon closing of the transaction and $0.1 million in net consideration received, consisting of $0.2 million received in
cash, less $0.1 million in transaction costs. The amount of cash proceeds to be received in connection with this transaction may change due to final working capital
adjustments.
Groupon Latin America
On February 16, 2017 and March 9, 2017, the Company sold its subsidiaries in Argentina, Chile, Colombia, Peru, Mexico, and Brazil in two transactions
with the same counterparty. The Company recognized a net pretax loss on the dispositions of $2.9 million , which represents the excess of (a) the sum of (i) a $2.1
million unfavorable contract liability for transition services, (ii) a $5.4 million indemnification liability and (iii) the $13.6 million net book value upon closing of
the transactions, over (b) the sum of (i) a $15.7 million cumulative translation gain, which was reclassified to earnings, and (ii) $2.5 million in net consideration
received, consisting of $3.2 million in net cash proceeds, less $0.7 million in transaction costs. The amount of net cash proceeds to be received in connection with
these transactions may change due to final working capital adjustments.
November 2016 Dispositions within Discontinued Operations
In connection with the strategic initiative to exit 11 non-core countries as discussed above, the Company sold its subsidiary in Malaysia and ceased
operations in South Africa in November 2016. The results of the Company's operations in Malaysia and South Africa are presented within discontinued operations
in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2016.
Results of Discontinued Operations and Assets and Liabilities of Discontinued Operations
The following table summarizes the major classes of line items included in income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax, for the three months
ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2017 (1)

Third-party and other revenue

$

Direct revenue

$

24,939

2,962

8,597

Third-party and other cost of revenue

(2,557)

(5,721)

Direct cost of revenue

(3,098)

(8,589)

Marketing expense

(1,239)

(2,470)

Selling, general and administrative expense

(9,908)

(18,010)

(778)

(931)

Restructuring
Other income, net

3,852

Income (loss) from discontinued operations before loss
on dispositions and provision for income taxes

1,836

Loss on dispositions

868
(1,317)

(1,268)

Provision for income taxes

—

(81)
$

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
(1)

12,602

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2016

487

(740)
$

(2,057)

The income (loss) from discontinued operations before loss on dispositions and provision for income taxes for the three months ended March 31, 2017 includes the results of
each business through its respective disposition date.

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities classified as discontinued operations in the consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2016 (in thousands):
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December 31, 2016

Cash

$

28,866

Accounts receivable, net

15,386

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

18,994

Property, equipment and software, net

1,554

Goodwill

9,411

Other non-current assets

1,041
$

Assets of discontinued operations

Accounts payable

75,252

$

722

Accrued merchant and supplier payables

29,705

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

16,625

Deferred income taxes

2,501

Other non-current liabilities

426
$

Liabilities of discontinued operations

49,979

3. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The following table summarizes the Company's goodwill activity by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 (in thousands):
North America

Balance as of December 31, 2016

$

178,685

Foreign currency translation

—

Reallocation to new segment

—

Balance as of March 31, 2017

$

178,685

EMEA

$

Rest of World

89,747

$

—
—

$

—

(89,747)
$

6,119

International

(6,119)
$

—

$

—

Consolidated

$

274,551

1,427

1,427

95,866

—

97,293

$

275,978

As discussed in Note 13, Segment Information , the Company updated its segments in the current period to report two segments: North America and
International. As a result of the change in segments, the Company combined its Northern EMEA, Southern EMEA and Central EMEA reporting units into a single
EMEA reporting unit, which is one level below the International segment. As a result of the change in reporting units, the Company performed a qualitative
assessment of potential goodwill impairment for the new EMEA reporting unit and performed separate qualitative assessments of potential goodwill impairment
for the Northern EMEA, Southern EMEA and Central EMEA previous reporting units immediately prior to the change. The Company also performed a qualitative
assessment of potential goodwill impairment for the remainder of its Asia Pacific reporting unit following the dispositions of businesses in that reporting unit in the
current period. Based on those assessments, which considered current market conditions, recent business performance and the amounts by which fair values
exceeded carrying values in quantitative impairment tests performed as of October 1, 2016, the Company determined that the likelihood of a goodwill impairment
did not reach the more-likely-than not threshold specified in U.S. GAAP for any of the reporting units that were evaluated. Accordingly, the Company concluded
that goodwill related to those reporting units was not impaired and further quantitative testing was not required to be performed. In addition, the Company sold all
of the operations of its Latin America reporting unit in the current period and the goodwill of that reporting unit was included in the net book value that was
derecognized. See Note 2, Discontinued Operations , for information about the dispositions of operations in Asia and Latin America.
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The following tables summarize the Company's intangible assets (in thousands):
March 31, 2017
Asset Category

Gross Carrying Value

Customer relationships

$

59,046

Accumulated
Amortization

$

41,711

Net Carrying Value

$

17,335

Merchant relationships

12,128

8,964

3,164

Trade names

11,600

8,414

3,186

Developed technology

38,520

31,971

6,549

Patents

17,742

14,286

3,456

Other intangible assets

14,153

9,848

4,305

Total

$

153,189

$

115,194

$

37,995

December 31, 2016
Asset Category

Gross Carrying Value

Customer relationships

$

59,340

Accumulated
Amortization

$

40,002

Net Carrying Value

$

19,338

Merchant relationships

12,015

8,475

3,540

Trade names

11,534

8,004

3,530

Developed technology

38,388

30,197

8,191

Patents

17,259

14,020

3,239

Other intangible assets

14,044

8,967

5,077

Total

$

152,580

$

109,665

$

42,915

Amortization of intangible assets is computed using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 1 to 5 years.
Amortization expense related to intangible assets from continuing operations was $5.4 million and $4.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and
2016 , respectively. There was no amortization expense related to intangible assets from discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and
2016 . As of March 31, 2017 , the Company's estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):
Remaining amounts in 2017

$

15,301

2018

14,775

2019

6,662

2020

994

2021

250

Thereafter

13
$

Total
4. INVESTMENTS
The following table summarizes the Company's investments (dollars in thousands):
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March 31, 2017

Percent Ownership of
Voting Stock

December 31,
2016

Percent Ownership of
Voting Stock

Available-for-sale securities:
Convertible debt securities

$

11,931

Redeemable preferred shares

17,788

Total available-for-sale securities

$
19%

to

10,038

25%

17,444

29,719

19%

to

25%

to

19%

27,482

Cost method investments

32,397

1%

to

19%

31,816

1%

Fair value option investments

82,887

10%

to

41%

82,584

41%

$

Total investments

145,003

$

141,882

The following table summarizes the amortized cost, gross unrealized gain, gross unrealized loss and fair value of the Company's available-for-sale
securities as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 , respectively (in thousands):
March 31, 2017
Gross
Unrealized
Gain

Amortized
Cost

December 31, 2016

Gross
Unrealized Loss

Fair Value

(1)

Gross
Unrealized
Gain

Amortized Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Loss (1)

Fair Value

Available-for-sale
securities:
Convertible debt
securities
$

10,304

Redeemable
preferred shares

18,375

Total
available-forsale securities $
(1)

28,679

$

1,737

$

—

$

1,737

(110)

$

11,931

(587)

$

(697)

$

17,788

$

29,719

8,453

$

18,375

$

26,828

1,691

$

—

$

1,691

(106)

$

(931)

$

(1,037)

10,038
17,444

$

27,482

As of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, available-for-sale securities with an unrealized loss have been in a loss position for less than 12 months, except for one
security in a loss position of $0.1 million .

Fair Value Option Investments
In connection with the dispositions of controlling stakes in Ticket Monster, an entity based in the Republic of Korea, in May 2015 and Groupon India in
August 2015, the Company obtained minority investments in Monster Holdings LP ("Monster LP") and in GroupMax Pte Ltd. ("GroupMax," d/b/a "Nearbuy"),
respectively. The Company has made an irrevocable election to account for both of these investments at fair value with changes in fair value reported in earnings.
The Company elected to apply fair value accounting to these investments because it believes that fair value is the most relevant measurement attribute for these
investments, as well as to reduce operational and accounting complexity.
Monster LP
In February 2017, the Company participated in a recapitalization transaction with Monster LP whereby it exchanged all
61,484,539 of its Class B units for 16,609,195 newly issued Class A-1 units. The Class B units previously held by the Company
were then distributed from Monster LP to its controlling investor group and certain other existing unit holders. Upon closing of the transaction, the Company owns
57% of the outstanding Class A-1 units, which represents 9% of the total outstanding partnership units.
Following the February 2017 recapitalization transaction, the Class A-1 units are entitled to a $150.0 million liquidation preference, including an $85.0
million liquidation preference attributable to the Class A-1 units held by the Company, which must be paid prior to any distributions to the holders of the Class A2, Class B and Class C units. Class A-1 unit holders are also entitled to share in distributions between $950.0 million and $1,494.0 million in accordance with the
terms of Monster LP's distribution waterfall and in distributions in excess of $1,494.0 million based on their pro rata ownership of total outstanding partnership
units. As a result of the February 2017 recapitalization transaction, the Company currently holds an investment in the most senior equity
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units in Monster LP’s capital structure. However, while providing more downside protection, those Class A-1 units provide less opportunity for appreciation than
the Class B units previously held by the Company.
To determine the fair value of the Company’s investment in Monster LP each period, the first step was to estimate the fair value of Monster LP in its
entirety. The Company primarily used the discounted cash flow method, which is an income approach, to estimate the fair value of Monster LP. The key inputs to
determining fair value under that approach are cash flow forecasts and discount rates. As of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company applied a
discount rate of 22% , in its discounted cash flow valuation of Monster LP. The Company also used a market approach valuation technique, which is based on
market multiples of guideline companies, to determine the fair value of Monster LP as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016. The discounted cash flow and
market multiple valuations were then evaluated and weighted to determine the amount that is most representative of the fair value of the investee. Once the
Company determined the fair value of Monster LP, it then determined the fair value of its specific investment in that entity. Monster LP has a complex capital
structure, so the Company applied an option-pricing model that considers the liquidation preferences of the investee’s respective classes of ownership interests to
determine the fair value of the Company’s investment in the entity.
Based on the above procedures, the Company determined that the fair value of its investment in Monster LP was $81.0 million and $78.7 million ,
respectively, as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016. The Company recognized a gain of $2.4 million from changes in the fair value of its investment for the
three months ended March 31, 2017 and a loss of less than $0.1 million , from the changes in the fair value of its investment for the three months ended March 31,
2016.
GroupMax
To determine the fair value of the Company’s investment in GroupMax each period, it applies the same methodology as described above for Monster LP.
The Company determined that the fair value of its investment in GroupMax was $1.9 million and $3.9 million , respectively, as of March 31, 2017 and December
31, 2016. The Company recognized losses of $2.1 million and $1.1 million from changes in the fair value of its investment in GroupMax for the three months
ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016, respectively. As of March 31, 2017, the Company also has an outstanding receivable due from GroupMax with a
carrying amount of $0.6 million .
Other Investments
In March 2017, the Company acquired a convertible debt instrument of a company that connects consumers with fitness, beauty and wellness businesses
in Asia , as consideration for the sale of Groupon Singapore. The convertible debt instrument was recorded at its $1.6 million acquisition date fair value and is
accounted for as an available-for-sale security.
In March 2017, in connection with the disposition of Groupon Israel, the Company retained a minority investment in the entity. The investment was
recorded at its $0.4 million fair value at initial recognition and is accounted for as a cost method investment.
5. SUPPLEMENTAL CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AND STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS INFORMATION
The following table summarizes the Company's other income (expense), net for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
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Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

Interest income

2016

$

Interest expense

602

(842)

303

(1)

Other
$

Other income (expense), net
(1)

333

(5,319)

Gains (losses), net on changes in fair value of
investments
Foreign currency gains (losses), net

$

(1,100)

51

5,643

(239)

(1,416)

(4,602) $

2,618

Foreign currency gains (losses), net for the three months ended March 31, 2016 includes a $1.5 million cumulative translation loss that was reclassified to earnings as a result
of the Company's exit from certain countries as part of its restructuring plan. Refer to Note 9, Restructuring , for additional information.

The following table summarizes the Company's prepaid expenses and other current assets as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in thousands):
March 31, 2017

Finished goods inventories

$

27,053

December 31, 2016

$

31,042

Prepaid expenses

31,080

34,132

Income taxes receivable

11,080

11,495

Value-added tax receivable
Other
$

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets

7,248

5,965

12,051

11,807

88,512

$

94,441

The following table summarizes the Company's accrued merchant and supplier payables as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in thousands):
March 31, 2017

Accrued merchant payables

$

Accrued supplier payables (1)

December 31, 2016

$

190,252
$

Total accrued merchant and supplier payables
(1)

447,441
637,693

428,187
342,805

$

770,992

Amounts include payables to suppliers of inventories and providers of shipping and fulfillment services.

The following table summarizes the Company's accrued expenses and other current liabilities as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in
thousands):
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March 31, 2017

Refunds reserve

$

27,797

December 31, 2016

$

33,104

Compensation and benefits

44,270

55,590

Customer credits

47,587

42,003

9,400

16,395

Income taxes payable

10,908

10,847

Deferred revenue

36,505

35,890

Restructuring-related liabilities

Current portion of capital lease obligations
Other
$

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities

28,261

28,889

130,803

143,738

335,531

$

366,456

The following table summarizes the Company's other non-current liabilities as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in thousands):
March 31, 2017

Long-term tax liabilities

$

43,201

December 31, 2016

$

41,611

Capital lease obligations

13,830

19,719

Other

40,059

38,298

$

Total other non-current liabilities

97,090

$

99,628

The following table summarizes the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in
thousands):

Foreign
currency
translation
adjustments

Balance as of December 31, 2016

$

58,249

Unrealized
gain (loss)
on availablefor-sale
securities

$

388

Pension
adjustments

$

(585)

Total

$ 58,052

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassification
adjustments

(1,176)

239

—

(937)

Reclassification adjustments included in net income (loss)

(14,905)

—

585

(14,320)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

(16,081)
$

Balance as of March 31, 2017

42,168

239
$

627

585
$

—

(15,257)
$ 42,795

6. FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS
Convertible Senior Notes
On April 4, 2016, the Company issued $250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of convertible senior notes (the "Notes") in a private placement to AG Holdings, L.P. ("Atairos"). The net proceeds from this offering were $243.2 million after deducting issuance costs. The Notes bear interest at a rate of 3.25% per
annum, payable annually in arrears on April 1 of each year, beginning on April 1, 2017. The Notes will mature on April 1, 2022, subject to earlier conversion or
redemption.
Each $1,000 of principal amount of the Notes initially is convertible into 185.1852 shares of common stock, which is equivalent to an initial conversion
price of $5.40 per share, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of specified events. Upon conversion, the Company can elect to settle the conversion value in
cash, shares of its common stock, or any combination of cash and shares of its common stock. Holders of the Notes may convert their Notes at their option at any
time until the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date. In addition, if specified corporate events occur prior to the
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maturity date, the Company may be required to increase the conversion rate for holders who elect to convert based on the effective date of such event and the
applicable stock price attributable to the event, as set forth in a table contained in the indenture governing the Notes (the "Indenture").
With certain exceptions, upon a fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture), the holders of the Notes may require the Company to repurchase all or
a portion of their Notes for cash at a purchase price equal to the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, the Company may redeem the
Notes, at its option, at a purchase price equal to the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest on or after April 1, 2020, if the closing sale price of the
Common Stock exceeds 150% of the then-current conversion price for 20 or more trading days in the 30 consecutive trading day period preceding the Company’s
exercise of this redemption right.
The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company that rank equal in right of payment to all senior unsecured indebtedness of the Company and
rank senior in right of payment to any indebtedness that is contractually subordinated to the Notes.
The Indenture includes customary events of default. If an event of default, as defined in the Indenture, occurs and is continuing, the principal amount of
the Notes and any accrued and unpaid interest may be declared immediately due and payable. In the case of bankruptcy or insolvency, the principal amount of the
Notes and any accrued and unpaid interest would automatically become immediately due and payable.
The Company has separated the Notes into their liability and equity components in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet. The carrying
amount of the liability component was calculated by measuring the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an associated conversion feature. The carrying
amount of the equity component, representing the conversion option, was determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component from the principal
amount of the Notes. The difference between the principal amount of the Notes and the liability component (the "debt discount") is amortized to interest expense at
an effective interest rate of 9.75% over the term of the Notes. The equity component of the Notes is included in additional paid-in capital in the condensed
consolidated balance sheet and is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification.
The Company incurred transaction costs of approximately $6.8 million related to the issuance of the Notes. Those transaction costs have been allocated to
the liability and equity components in the same manner as the allocation of the proceeds from the Notes. Transaction costs attributable to the liability component of
$4.8 million were recorded as a debt discount in the condensed consolidated balance sheet and are being amortized to interest expense over the term of the Notes.
Transaction costs attributable to the equity component of $2.0 million were recorded in stockholders' equity as a reduction of the equity component.
The carrying amount of the Notes consisted of the following (in thousands):
March 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

Liability component:
Principal amount

$

250,000

$

$

Less: debt discount

$

250,000

181,582

$

178,995

67,014

$

67,014

(68,418)

Net carrying amount of liability component

Net carrying amount of equity component

(71,005)

The estimated fair value of the Notes as of March 31, 2017 was $247.8 million and was determined using a lattice model. The Company classified the fair
value of the Notes as a Level 3 measurement due to the lack of observable market data over fair value inputs such as its stock price volatility over the term of the
Notes and its cost of debt.
As of March 31, 2017 , the remaining term of the Notes is approximately 5 years . During the three months ended March 31, 2017 , the Company
recognized interest expense on the Notes as follows (in thousands):
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Three Months Ended
March 31, 2017

Contractual interest expense based on 3.25% of the principal amount per annum

$

Amortization of debt discount

2,032
2,587

Total interest expense

$

4,619

Note Hedges and Warrants
In May 2016, the Company purchased convertible note hedges with respect to its Common Stock for a cost of $59.1 million from certain bank
counterparties. The convertible note hedges provide the Company with the right to purchase up to 46.3 million shares of the Company's Common Stock at an initial
strike price of $5.40 per share, which corresponds to the initial conversion price of the Notes, and are exercisable by the Company upon conversion of the Notes.
The convertible note hedges are intended to reduce the potential economic dilution upon conversion of the Notes. The convertible note hedges are separate
transactions and are not part of the terms of the Notes. Holders of the Notes do not have any rights with respect to the convertible note hedges.
In May 2016, the Company also sold warrants for total cash proceeds of $35.5 million to certain bank counterparties. The warrants provide the
counterparties with the right to purchase up to 46.3 million shares of the Company's Common Stock at a strike price of $8.50 per share. The warrants expire on
various dates between July 1, 2022 and August 26, 2022 and are exercisable on their expiration dates. The warrants are separate transactions and are not part of the
terms of the Notes or convertible note hedges. Holders of the Notes and convertible note hedges do not have any rights with respect to the warrants.
The amounts paid and received for the convertible note hedges and warrants have been recorded in additional paid-in capital in the condensed
consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2017 . The convertible note hedges and warrants are not remeasured as long as they continue to meet the conditions for
equity classification. The amounts paid for the convertible note hedges are tax deductible over the term of the Notes, while the proceeds received from the warrants
are not taxable.
Under the if-converted method, the shares of common stock underlying the conversion option in the Notes are included in the diluted earnings per share
denominator and the interest expense on the Notes, net of tax, is added to the numerator. However, upon conversion, there will be no economic dilution from the
Notes, as exercise of the convertible note hedges eliminates any dilution from the Notes that would have otherwise occurred when the price of the Company’s
Common Stock exceeds the conversion price. Taken together, the purchase of the convertible note hedges and sale of warrants are intended to offset any actual
dilution from the conversion of these Notes and to effectively increase the overall conversion price from $5.40 to $8.50 per share. Based on the closing price of the
Company's Common Stock of $3.93 on March 31, 2017 , the if-converted value of the Notes was less than the principal amount.
Revolving Credit Agreement
The Company's amended and restated senior secured revolving credit agreement (the "Amended and Restated Credit Agreement") provides for aggregate
principal borrowings of up to $250.0 million and matures in June 2019. Borrowings under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement bear interest, at the
Company's option, at a rate per annum equal to the Alternate Base Rate or Adjusted LIBO Rate (each as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement)
plus an additional margin ranging between 0.50% and 2.25% . The Company is required to pay quarterly commitment fees ranging from 0.25% to 0.40% per
annum of the average daily amount of unused commitments available under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement also provides for the issuance of up to $45.0 million in letters of credit, provided that the sum of outstanding borrowings and letters of credit does not
exceed the maximum funding commitment of $250.0 million .
The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement is secured by substantially all of the Company's and its subsidiaries' tangible and intangible assets,
including a pledge of 100% of the outstanding capital stock of substantially all of its direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the shares or equity
interests of first-tier foreign subsidiaries and each U.S. entity whose assets substantially consist of capital stock and/or intercompany debt of one or more foreign
subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions. Certain of the Company's domestic subsidiaries are guarantors under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.
The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement contains various customary restrictive covenants that limit the Company's ability to, among other things:
incur additional indebtedness; make dividend and other restricted payments, including share repurchases; enter into sale or leaseback transactions; make
investments, loans or advances; grant or incur liens on assets; sell assets; engage in mergers, consolidations, liquidations or dissolutions; and engage in transactions
with affiliates. The Amended
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and Restated Credit Agreement requires the Company to maintain compliance with specified financial covenants, comprised of a minimum fixed charge coverage
ratio, a maximum leverage ratio, a maximum senior secured indebtedness ratio and a minimum liquidity ratio, each as set forth in the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement. The Company is also required to maintain, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, unrestricted cash of at least $400.0 million , including $200.0
million in accounts held with lenders under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement or their affiliates. Non-compliance with these covenants may result in
termination of the commitments under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and any then outstanding borrowings may be declared due and payable
immediately. The Company has the right to terminate the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement or reduce the available commitments at any time.
As of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 , the Company had no borrowings under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and was in
compliance with all covenants. As of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 , the Company had outstanding letters of credit of $10.9 million and $11.1 million ,
respectively, under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.
7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company's commitments as of March 31, 2017 did not materially change from the amounts set forth in the Company's 2016 Annual Report on Form
10-K.
Legal Matters and Other Contingencies
From time to time, the Company is party to various legal proceedings incident to the operation of its business. For example, the Company is currently
involved in proceedings brought by former employees and merchants, intellectual property infringement suits and suits by customers (individually or as class
actions) alleging, among other things, violations of the Credit Card Accountability, Responsibility and Disclosure Act and state laws governing gift cards, stored
value cards and coupons. The following is a brief description of significant legal proceedings.
Federal and state purported stockholder derivative lawsuits were filed against certain of the Company's current and former directors and officers. The
federal purported stockholder derivative lawsuit was originally filed in April 2012, and a consolidated stockholder derivative complaint was filed on July 30, 2012,
in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois: In re Groupon Derivative Litigation . The state derivative cases were filed in the Chancery
Division of the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois: Orrego v. Lefkofsky, et al., on April 5, 2012; and Kim v. Lefkofsky, et al., was filed on May 25, 2012. In
the first quarter of 2016, the parties reached an agreement in principle to settle the litigation, including that the Company will implement certain corporate reforms.
On January 9, 2017, the state court entered an order preliminarily approving the settlement, and on April 5, 2017 the state court entered a final order approving the
settlement. On April 7, 2017, the federal court entered an order dismissing the action with prejudice.
On March 2, 2016, International Business Machines Corporation ("IBM") filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware
against the Company. In the complaint, IBM alleges that the Company has infringed and continues to willfully infringe certain IBM patents that IBM claims relate
to the presentation of applications and advertising in an interactive service, preserving state information in online transactions and single sign-on processes in a
computing environment and seeks unspecified damages (including a request that the amount of compensatory damages be trebled), injunctive relief and costs and
reasonable attorneys’ fees. On December 13, 2016, the Company filed a motion to invalidate two of IBM’s patents relating to the presentation of applications and
advertising on the grounds that such patents are patent-ineligible, and the court has not yet ruled on that motion, which is set for hearing on June 5, 2017. On
March 24, 2017, the Company filed a petition for inter partes review with the United States Patent and Trademark Office seeking to invalidate IBM’s asserted
patent related to single sign-on processes. On May 9, 2016, the Company filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois
against IBM. The Company alleges that IBM has infringed and continues to willfully infringe one of the Company’s patents relating to location-based services. On
December 20, 2016, IBM filed a motion to dismiss this case, and the court denied that motion. The court held a Markman hearing on April 3, 2017, but has not yet
construed the claims. The Company intends to seek damages and injunctive relief for IBM’s infringement of this patent. Further, the Company plans to vigorously
defend against the claims filed by IBM.
In addition, other third parties have from time to time claimed, and others may claim in the future, that the Company has infringed their intellectual
property rights. The Company is subject to intellectual property disputes, including patent infringement claims, and expects that it will increasingly be subject to
intellectual property infringement claims as its services expand in scope and complexity. The Company has in the past litigated such claims, and the Company is
presently involved in several patent infringement and other intellectual property-related claims, including pending litigation or trademark disputes, some of which
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could involve potentially substantial claims for damages. The Company may also become more vulnerable to third-party claims as laws such as the Digital
Millennium Copyright Act are interpreted by the courts, and as the Company becomes subject to laws in jurisdictions where the underlying laws with respect to the
potential liability of online intermediaries are either unclear or less favorable. The Company believes that additional lawsuits alleging that it has violated patent,
copyright or trademark laws will be filed against it. Intellectual property claims, whether meritorious or not, are time consuming and costly to resolve, could
require expensive changes in the Company's methods of doing business, or could require it to enter into costly royalty or licensing agreements.
The Company is also subject to, or in the future may become subject to, a variety of regulatory inquiries, audits, and investigations across the jurisdictions
where the Company conducts its business, including, for example, inquiries related to consumer protection, employment matters and/or hiring practices, marketing
practices, tax, unclaimed property and privacy rules and regulations. Any regulatory actions against the Company, whether meritorious or not, could be time
consuming, result in costly litigation, damage awards, fines and penalties, injunctive relief or increased costs of doing business through adverse judgment or
settlement, require the Company to change its business practices in expensive ways, require significant amounts of management time, result in the diversion of
significant operational resources or otherwise harm the Company's business.
The Company establishes an accrued liability for loss contingencies related to legal and regulatory matters when the loss is both probable and estimable.
These accruals represent management's best estimate of probable losses and, in such cases, there may be an exposure to loss in excess of the amounts accrued. For
certain of the matters described above, there are inherent and significant uncertainties based on, among other factors, the stage of the proceedings, developments in
the applicable facts of law, or the lack of a specific damage claim. However, the Company believes that the amount of reasonably possible losses in excess of the
amounts accrued for these matters would not have a material adverse effect on its business, consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The
Company's accrued liabilities for loss contingencies related to legal and regulatory matters may change in the future as a result of new developments, including, but
not limited to, the occurrence of new legal matters, changes in the law or regulatory environment, adverse or favorable rulings, newly discovered facts relevant to
the matter, or changes in the strategy for the matter. Regardless of the outcome, litigation and other regulatory matters can have an adverse impact on the Company
because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
Indemnifications
In connection with the dispositions of the Company's operations in Latin America (see Note 2, Discontinued Operations ), it agreed to indemnify the buyer
for certain tax and other matters. The indemnification liabilities were recorded at their fair value, estimated to be $5.4 million using a probability-weighted
expected cash flow approach, upon closing of the transactions as an adjustment to the net loss on the dispositions within discontinued operations. The Company
estimates that the total amount of obligations that are reasonably possible of arising under the indemnifications is $23.0 million .
In the normal course of business to facilitate transactions related to its operations, the Company indemnifies certain parties, including employees, lessors,
service providers, merchants, and counterparties to investment agreements and asset and stock purchase agreements with respect to various matters. The Company
has agreed to hold certain parties harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations or covenants, or other claims made against those parties. These
agreements may limit the time within which an indemnification claim can be made and the amount of the claim. The Company is also subject to increased
exposure to various claims as a result of its divestitures and acquisitions, particularly in cases where the Company is entering into new businesses in connection
with such acquisitions. The Company may also become more vulnerable to claims as it expands the range and scope of its services and is subject to laws in
jurisdictions where the underlying laws with respect to potential liability are either unclear or less favorable. In addition, the Company has entered into
indemnification agreements with its officers, directors and underwriters, and the Company's bylaws contain similar indemnification obligations that cover officers,
directors, employees and other agents.
Except as noted above, it is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount under these indemnification agreements due to the limited history of
prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Historically, any payments that the Company has made
under these agreements have not had a material impact on the operating results, financial position or cash flows of the Company.
8. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPENSATION ARRANGEMENTS
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The Company's Board of Directors (the "Board") has the authority, without approval by the stockholders, to issue up to a total of 50,000,000 shares of
preferred stock in one or more series. The Board may establish the number of shares to be included in each such series and may fix the designations, preferences,
powers and other rights of the shares of a series of preferred stock. The Board could authorize the issuance of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that
could dilute the voting power or rights of the holders of its common stock. As of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, there were no shares of preferred stock
outstanding.
Common Stock
Prior to October 31, 2016, the Company's certificate of incorporation, as amended and restated, authorized three classes of common stock: Class A
common stock, Class B common stock and common stock. On October 31, 2016, each share of the Company's Class A common stock and Class B common stock
automatically converted into a single class of common stock pursuant to the terms of the Company's sixth amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Upon
conversion, all shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock were retired.
Pursuant to the Company's restated certificate of incorporation, the Board has the authority to issue up to a total of 2,010,000,000 shares of common
stock. Each holder of common stock shall be entitled to one vote for each such share on any matter that is submitted to a vote of stockholders. In addition, holders
of the common stock will vote as a single class of stock on any matter that is submitted to a vote of stockholders.
Prior to October 31, 2016, holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock had identical rights, except that holders of Class A common
stock were entitled to one vote per share and holders of Class B common stock were entitled to 150 votes per share.
Share Repurchase Program
The Board has authorized the Company to repurchase up to $700.0 million of its common stock through April 2018 under its current share repurchase
program. During the three months ended March 31, 2017 , the Company purchased 7,336,681 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $26.0 million (including
fees and commissions) under that repurchase program. As of March 31, 2017 , up to $169.0 million of common stock remained available for purchase under that
program. The timing and amount of any share repurchases are determined based on market conditions, limitations under the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement, share price and other factors, and the program may be discontinued or suspended at any time.
Groupon, Inc. Stock Plans
The Groupon, Inc. Stock Plans (the "Plans") are administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board, which determines the number of awards to
be issued, the corresponding vesting schedule and the exercise price for options. As of March 31, 2017 , 76,021,445 shares of common stock were available for
future issuance under the Plans.
The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense from continuing operations of $19.7 million and $30.1 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively, related to stock awards issued under the Plans and acquisition-related awards. The Company recognized stock-based
compensation expense from discontinued operations of $0.2 million and $0.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively. The
Company also capitalized $1.5 million and $2.2 million of stock-based compensation for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively, in
connection with internally-developed software.
As of March 31, 2017 , a total of $90.1 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested employee stock awards and unvested acquisitionrelated awards are expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average period of 1.01 years.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company is authorized to grant up to 10,000,000 shares of common stock under its employee stock purchase plan ("ESPP"). For the three months
ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , 877,845 and 618,319 shares of common stock were issued under the ESPP, respectively.
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Restricted Stock Units
The restricted stock units granted under the Plans generally have vesting periods between one and four years. Restricted stock units are generally
amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, except for restricted stock units with performance conditions and ratable vesting, which are
amortized using the accelerated method.
The table below summarizes activity regarding unvested restricted stock units granted under the Plans for the three months ended March 31, 2017 :
Weighted- Average Grant Date
Fair Value (per share)

Restricted Stock Units

Unvested at December 31, 2016

25,407,846

$

5.18

Granted

2,779,983

$

3.62

Vested

(5,491,469)

$

5.33

Forfeited

(1,834,474)

$

6.08

20,861,886

$

4.89

Unvested at March 31, 2017
Performance Share Units

During the three months ended March 31, 2017 , 503,735 shares of the Company's common stock were issued upon vesting of performance share units
granted in the previous year upon the Board's certification of the Company's financial and operational metrics for the year ended December 31, 2016. The weighted
average grant date fair value of those shares was $3.78 per share.
During the three months ended March 31, 2017 , the Company granted additional performance share units to certain key employees. The vesting of those
awards into shares of the Company's common stock is contingent upon the achievement of specified financial and operational targets for the year ending
December 31, 2017 and is subject to both continued employment through the performance period and certification by the Board that the specified financial and
operational targets have been achieved. The maximum number of common shares issuable upon vesting of those performance share units is 683,076 shares, the
grant date fair value was $3.78 per share and the total grant date fair value of the shares for which the performance conditions are expected to be met was $1.3
million .
Performance Bonus Awards
If bonus amounts earned under the Company's primary employee bonus plans exceed targeted bonus amounts because specified financial metrics of the
Company exceed the performance conditions set forth in those plans, such excess is required to be settled in the Company's common stock. The Company's
obligation to issue shares for employee bonus amounts exceeding the specified bonus targets is accounted for separately as a liability-classified stock-based
compensation arrangement with performance conditions. For the three months ended March 31, 2017 , the stock-based compensation under that arrangement was
not material.
Restricted Stock Awards
The Company has granted restricted stock awards in connection with business combinations. Compensation expense on these awards is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service periods, which extend through January 2018. There were no restricted stock awards granted, vested or forfeited during
the three months ended March 31, 2017 . There were 1,219,018 unvested restricted stock awards as of March 31, 2017 with a weighted-average grant date fair
value of $4.76 .
Stock Options
The exercise price of stock options granted is equal to the fair value of the underlying stock on the date of grant. The contractual term for stock options
expires ten years from the grant date. Stock options generally vested over a three or four-year period, with 25% of the awards vesting after one year and the
remainder of the awards vesting on a monthly or quarterly basis thereafter.
The table below summarizes the stock option activity for the three months ended March 31, 2017 :
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Weighted- Average
Exercise Price

Options

Outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2016

991,172

$

0.77

Exercised

(4,701)

2.04

Forfeited

(950)

1.77

985,521

Outstanding and exercisable at March 31, 2017
(1)

Weighted- Average
Remaining Contractual
Term (in years)

$

0.77

Aggregate Intrinsic Value
(in thousands) (1)

2.83 $

2,527

2.59 $

3,114

The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable represents the total pretax intrinsic value (the difference between the fair value of the Company's stock on
the last day of each period and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of options where the fair value exceeds the exercise price) that would have been received by the
option holders had all option holders exercised their options as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 , respectively.

9. RESTRUCTURING
In September 2015, the Company commenced a restructuring plan relating primarily to workforce reductions in its international operations. The Company
has also undertaken workforce reductions in its North America segment. In addition to workforce reductions in its ongoing markets, the Company ceased
operations in 17 countries within its International segment as part of the restructuring plan between September 2015 and March 2016. Those country exits, which
generally comprised the Company's smallest international markets, resulted from a series of separate decisions made at different times during that period that were
not part of an overall strategic shift. Costs related to the restructuring plan are classified as "Restructuring charges" on the condensed consolidated statements of
operations.
From the inception of its restructuring plan in September 2015 through March 31, 2017 , the Company has incurred cumulative costs for employee
severance and benefits and other exit costs of $64.1 million under the plan. In addition to those costs, the Company has incurred cumulative long-lived asset
impairment charges of $7.5 million resulting from its restructuring activities.
Additionally, we undertook a workforce reduction in April 2017 involving approximately 300 employees, which will result in approximately $2.0 million
of restructuring charges in the second quarter 2017.
The following table summarizes the costs incurred by segment related to the Company’s restructuring plan for the three months ended March 31, 2017 (in
thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31, 2017
Employee Severance and
Benefit Costs (1)

North America

$

1,778

$

2,301

International
Consolidated
(1)

Asset Impairments

$

—

523

$

177

—
$

Total Restructuring
Charges

Other Exit Costs

—

$

1,955

$

2,731

253
$

430

776

The employee severance and benefit costs for the three months ended March 31, 2017 relates to the termination of approximately 200 employees. Substantially all of the
remaining cash payments for those costs are expected to be disbursed through December 31, 2017.

The following table summarizes the costs incurred by segment related to the Company’s restructuring plan for the three months ended March 31, 2016 (in
thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31, 2016
Employee Severance and
Benefit Costs (1)

North America

$

4,725

$

10,325

International
Consolidated
(1)

Asset Impairments

$

45

5,600

$

849

$

1,143

—
$

Total Restructuring
Charges

Other Exit Costs

45

$

5,619

$

11,513

294

5,894

The employee severance and benefit costs for the three months ended March 31, 2016 related to the termination of approximately 300 employees.
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The following table summarizes restructuring liability activity for each period (in thousands):
Employee Severance and
Benefit Costs

Balance as of June 30, 2015

$

—

Charges payable in cash

18,310

Cash payments

(8,862)

Foreign currency translation
Balance as of December 31, 2015

8,872

Cash payments
Foreign currency translation

2,197

11,069

6,063

35,479

(5,988)

(29,717)

(12)
$

2,260

9,212

(436)
$

430

(9,953)

28
$

188

16,395
2,731

(2,530)

199
$

(573)
$

29,416

(7,423)

Foreign currency translation

(9,608)

3

2,301

Cash payments
Balance as of March 31, 2017

(746)
$

—
21,250

(23,729)
14,135

Charges payable in cash

$

2,940

(424)
$

Total

—

(576)
$

Charges payable in cash

Balance as of December 31, 2016

Other Exit Costs

$

227
$

9,400

10. INCOME TAXES
The Company's tax provision for interim periods is determined using an estimate of its annual effective tax rate, adjusted for discrete items.
For the three months ended March 31, 2017 , the Company recorded income tax expense from continuing operations of $4.6 million on a pretax loss from
continuing operations of $16.3 million . For the three months ended March 31, 2016 , the Company recorded an income tax expense from continuing operations of
$1.0 million on a pretax loss from continuing operations of $42.5 million .
The Company's U.S. statutory rate is 35% . The primary factor impacting the effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was
the pretax losses incurred by the Company's operations in jurisdictions that have valuation allowances against their net deferred tax assets, including the United
States.
The Company is currently undergoing income tax audits in multiple jurisdictions. There are many factors, including factors outside of the Company's
control, which influence the progress and completion of those audits. As of March 31, 2017 , the Company believes that it is reasonably possible that changes of up
to $35.3 million in unrecognized tax benefits may occur within the next 12 months upon closing of income tax audits or the expiration of applicable statutes of
limitations.
11. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value is defined under U.S. GAAP as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is a market-based measurement that is determined based on assumptions that market participants would use
in pricing an asset or a liability.
To increase the comparability of fair value measures, the following hierarchy prioritizes the inputs in valuation methodologies used to measure fair value:
Level 1 - Measurements that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
Level 2 - Measurements that include other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.
Level 3 - Measurements derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value
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drivers are unobservable. These fair value measurements require significant judgment.
In determining fair value, the Company uses various valuation approaches within the fair value measurement framework. The valuation methodologies
used for the Company's assets and liabilities measured at fair value and their classification in the valuation hierarchy are summarized below:
Cash equivalents - Cash equivalents primarily consist of AAA-rated money market funds. The Company classified cash equivalents as Level 1 due to the
short-term nature of these instruments and measured the fair value based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.
Fair value option investments and available-for-sale securities - See Note 4, Investments , for a discussion of the valuation methodologies used to
measure the fair value of the Company's investments in Monster LP and GroupMax. The Company measures the fair value of those investments using the
discounted cash flow method, which is an income approach, and the market approach.The Company also has investments in redeemable preferred shares
and convertible debt securities issued by nonpublic entities. The Company measures the fair value of those available-for-sale securities using the
discounted cash flow method.
The Company has classified its fair value option investments and its investments in available-for-sale securities as Level 3 due to the lack of observable
market data over fair value inputs such as cash flow projections and discount rates. Increases in projected cash flows and decreases in discount rates
contribute to increases in the estimated fair values of the fair value option investments and available-for-sale securities, whereas decreases in projected
cash flows and increases in discount rates contribute to decreases in their fair values.
Contingent consideration - The Company has contingent obligations to transfer cash to the former owners of acquired businesses if specified financial
results are met over future reporting periods (i.e., earn-outs). Liabilities for contingent consideration are measured at fair value each reporting period, with
the acquisition-date fair value included as part of the
consideration transferred and subsequent changes in fair value are recorded in earnings within "Acquisition-related expense
(benefit), net" on the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
The Company uses an income approach to value contingent consideration obligations based on future financial performance, which is determined based
on the present value of probability-weighted future cash flows. The Company has classified the contingent consideration liabilities as Level 3 due to the
lack of relevant observable market data over fair value inputs such as probability-weighting of payment outcomes. Increases in the assessed likelihood of
a higher payout under a contingent consideration arrangement contribute to increases in the fair value of the related liability. Conversely, decreases in the
assessed likelihood of a higher payout under a contingent consideration arrangement contribute to decreases in the fair value of the related liability.
Changes in assumptions could have an impact on the payout of contingent consideration arrangements with a maximum payout of $15.4 million .
The following tables summarize the Company's assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):
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Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using

Description

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

March 31, 2017

Significant Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
Cash equivalents

$

Fair value option investments

182,163

$

182,163

$

—

$

—

82,887

—

—

82,887

Convertible debt securities

11,931

—

—

11,931

Redeemable preferred shares

17,788

—

—

17,788

14,600

—

—

14,600

Available-for-sale securities:

Liabilities:
Contingent consideration

Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using

Description

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

December 31, 2016

Significant Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
Cash equivalents
Fair value option investments

$

202,241

$

202,241

$

—

$

—

82,584

—

—

82,584

Convertible debt securities

10,038

—

—

10,038

Redeemable preferred shares

17,444

—

—

17,444

14,588

—

—

14,588

Available-for-sale securities:

Liabilities:
Contingent consideration
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The following table provides a roll-forward of the fair value of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and
2016 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

Assets
Fair value option investments:
Beginning Balance

$

82,584

$

130,725

Ending Balance

$

82,887

$

129,625

Unrealized gains (losses) still held (1)

$

303

$

(1,100)

$

10,038

$

10,116

Total gains (losses) included in earnings

303

(1,100)

Available-for-sale securities
Convertible debt securities:
Beginning Balance
Acquisition of convertible debt security
Total gains (losses) included in other comprehensive income (loss)
Total gains (losses) included in earnings (2)

1,612

—

42

19

239

38

Ending Balance

$

11,931

$

10,173

Unrealized gains (losses) still held (1)

$

281

$

57

$

17,444

$

22,834
22,699

Redeemable preferred shares:
Beginning Balance
Total gains (losses) included in other comprehensive income (loss)

344

(135)

Ending Balance

$

17,788

$

Unrealized (losses) gains still held (1)

$

344

$

$

14,588

$

(135)

Liabilities
Contingent Consideration:
Beginning Balance
Reclass to non-fair value liabilities when no longer contingent
Total losses (gains) included in earnings

—

(3)

10,781
(285)

12

3,442

Ending Balance

$

14,600

$

13,938

Unrealized losses (gains) still held (1)

$

12

$

3,316

(1)

Represents the unrealized losses or gains recorded in earnings and/or other comprehensive income (loss) during the period for assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 that
are still held (or outstanding) at the end of the period.

(2)

Represents accretion of interest income and changes in the fair value of an embedded derivative.

(3)

Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration liabilities are classified within "Acquisition-related expense (benefit), net" on the condensed consolidated statements of
operations.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, including assets that are written down to fair value as a result of an
impairment. The Company did not record any significant nonrecurring fair value measurements after initial recognition for the three months ended March 31, 2017
and 2016 .
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Estimated Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value
The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value in the condensed consolidated
financial statements (in thousands):
March 31, 2017
Carrying Amount
Cost method investments

$

32,397

December 31, 2016

Fair Value
$

36,560

Carrying Amount
$

31,816

Fair Value
$

35,369

The fair values of the Company's cost method investments were determined using the market approach or the income approach, depending on the
availability of fair value inputs such as financial projections for the investees and market multiples for comparable companies. The Company has classified the fair
value measurements of its cost method investments as Level 3 measurements within the fair value hierarchy because they involve significant unobservable inputs
such as cash flow projections and discount rates.
The Company's other financial instruments not carried at fair value consist primarily of accounts receivable, restricted cash, accounts payable, accrued
merchant and supplier payables and accrued expenses. The carrying values of these assets and liabilities approximate their respective fair values as of March 31,
2017 and December 31, 2016 due to their short-term nature.
12. INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income
(loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares and the effect of potentially dilutive securities outstanding during the period.
Potentially dilutive securities include stock options, restricted stock units, performance share units, unvested restricted stock awards, ESPP shares, warrants and
convertible senior notes. If dilutive, those potentially dilutive securities are reflected in diluted net income (loss) per share by application of the treasury stock
method, except for the convertible senior notes, which are subject to the if-converted method.
Each share of the Company's Class A and Class B common stock automatically converted into a single class of common stock on October 31, 2016. Refer
to Note 8, Stockholders’ Equity and Compensation Arrangements, for additional information. Prior to the conversion, the Company computed net income (loss) per
share of Class A and Class B common stock using the two-class method. Under the two-class method, the undistributed earnings for each period were allocated
based on the contractual participation rights of the Class A and Class B common shares as if the earnings for the period had been distributed. As the liquidation and
dividend rights were identical for Class A and Class B common shares, the undistributed earnings were allocated on a proportionate basis. Under the two-class
method, the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share of Class A common stock would reflect the conversion of Class B common stock, if dilutive, while
the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share of Class B common stock would not reflect the conversion of those shares.
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share of common stock for the three months ended March 31,
2017 (in thousands, except share amounts and per share amounts):
Three Months Ended March
31, 2017
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share:
Numerator
Net income (loss) - continuing operations

$

(20,869)

Less: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders - continuing
operations
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders - discontinued
operations

4,032
$

(24,901)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

$

(24,414)

487

Denominator
Weighted-average common shares outstanding
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share

(1)

562,195,243
:

Continuing operations

$

(0.04)

Discontinued operations

—
$

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share
(1)

(0.04)

The potentially dilutive impacts of outstanding equity awards, warrants and convertible senior notes have been excluded from the calculation of dilutive net income (loss) per
share for the three months ended March 31, 2017 as their effect on net income (loss) per share from continuing operations was antidilutive.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share of common stock for the three months ended March 31,
2016 (in thousands, except share amounts and per share amounts):
Three Months Ended March 31, 2016
Class A

Class B

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share:
Numerator
Allocation of net income (loss) - continuing operations
Less: Allocation of net income (loss) attributable to
noncontrolling interests
Allocation of net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders - continuing operations
Allocation of net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders - discontinued operations
Allocation of net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders

$

(43,360)

$

3,508
$

(46,868)

15
$

(2,047)
$

(48,915)

(179)

(194)
(9)

$

(203)

Denominator
Weighted-average common shares outstanding
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share

(1)

580,351,702
:

Continuing operations

$

Discontinued operations

(0.08)

$

—
$

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share
(1)

2,399,976

(0.08)

(0.08)
—

$

(0.08)

The potentially dilutive impacts of a conversion of Class B to Class A shares, outstanding equity awards, warrants and convertible senior notes have been excluded from the
calculation of dilutive net income (loss) per share for the three months ended March 31, 2016 as their effect on net income (loss) per share from continuing operations was
antidilutive.
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(unaudited)

The following weighted-average outstanding potentially-dilutive securities are not included in the diluted net income (loss) per share calculations above
because they would have had an antidilutive effect on the net income (loss) per share from continuing operations:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

Stock options

2016

1,057,913

1,464,283

24,360,648

38,260,649

Restricted stock

1,219,018

1,693,312

ESPP shares

1,285,049

1,412,199

Performance share units

251,868

—

Convertible senior notes

46,296,300

—

Warrants

46,296,300

—

120,767,096

42,830,443

Restricted stock units

Total

In addition to the antidilutive securities as set forth in the table above, the Company had outstanding performance share units during the three months
ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 that were eligible to vest into up to 683,076 and 256,674 shares of common stock, respectively, subject to the achievement of
specified performance conditions. Contingently issuable shares are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share if, based on current period results,
the shares would not be issuable if the end of the reporting period were the end of the contingency period. These outstanding performance share units have been
excluded from the table above for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 as the performance conditions were not satisfied as of the end of the period.
13. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The segment information reported in the tables below reflects the operating results that are regularly reviewed by the Company's chief operating decision
maker to assess performance and make resource allocation decisions. The Company previously organized its operations into three segments: North America,
EMEA and Rest of World. As a result of the dispositions discussed in Note 2, Discontinued Operations , which represented a substantial majority of the
Company's international operations outside of EMEA and resulted in changes to the Company's internal reporting and leadership structure, the Company updated
its segments in the current period to report two segments: North America and International. In addition, the Company has changed its measure of segment
profitability in the current period. Historically, segment operating results reflected operating income (loss) excluding stock-based compensation and acquisitionrelated expense (benefit), net. In connection with the internal reporting changes in the current period, the measure of segment profitability has been changed to
operating income (loss), unadjusted. Prior period segment information has been retrospectively adjusted to reflect those changes.
The Company offers goods and services through its online local commerce marketplaces in three primary categories: Local, Goods and Travel. The
Company also earns advertising revenue and commission revenue generated when customers make purchases with retailers using digital coupons accessed through
the Company's websites and mobile applications. Revenue and gross profit from those other sources, which are primarily generated through the Company's
relationships with local and national merchants, are included within the Local category in the tables below.
The following table summarizes revenue by reportable segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
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Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

North America
Local - Third-party and other

$

200,545

$

192,153

Goods:
Third-party
Direct

1,704

1,990

250,646

285,756

20,462

20,914

Travel - Third-party
Total North America revenue

(1)

$

473,357

$

500,813

$

63,575

$

68,907

International
Local - Third-party and other
Goods:
Third-party
Direct

4,289

13,214

121,403

103,050

11,002

12,451

Travel - Third-party
Total International revenue
(1)

$

(1)

200,269

$

197,622

North America includes revenue from the United States of $464.7 million and $492.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively.
International includes revenue from Switzerland of $130.9 million and $113.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively. There were no
other individual countries that represented more than 10% of consolidated total revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 . Revenue is attributed to
individual countries based on the domicile of the legal entities within the Company's consolidated group that undertook those transactions.

The following table summarizes gross profit by reportable segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

North America
Local - Third-party and other

$

169,342

$

164,018

Goods:
Third-party
Direct
Travel - Third-party

1,307

1,673

35,123

34,540

15,165

Total North America gross profit

15,712

$

220,937

$

215,943

$

59,194

$

64,221

International
Local - Third-party and other
Goods:
Third-party
Direct
Travel - Third-party

3,660

11,703

15,624

16,993

10,036
$

Total International gross profit

88,514

11,242
$

104,159

The following table summarizes operating income by reportable segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
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Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

Operating income (loss) (1) (2) (3) :
North America

$

International

$

(14,783) $

$

Total operating income (loss)

(41,934)

3,103

(3,214)

(11,680) $

(45,148)

(1)

Includes stock-based compensation of $18.3 million and $27.1 million for North America and $1.4 million and $2.8 million for International for the three months ended
March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively.

(2)

Includes acquisition-related (benefit) expense, net of $0.01 million and $3.5 million for North America for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively.

(3)

Includes restructuring charges of $2.0 million and $5.6 million (which includes $2.6 million of stock-based compensation) for North America and $0.8 million and $5.9
million for International for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively.

The following table summarizes the Company's total assets by reportable segment as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in thousands):
March 31, 2017

North America (1)

$

International (1)

$

523,352

Assets of discontinued operations

1,483,835

1,122,261
563,864

—
$

Consolidated total assets
(1)

December 31, 2016

960,483

75,252
$

1,761,377

North America contains assets from the United States of $894.7 million and $1,057.6 million as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 , respectively. International
contains assets from Ireland of $203.2 million as of December 31, 2016 . There were no other individual countries that represented more than 10% of consolidated total assets
as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 .
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our condensed consolidated
financial statements and related notes included under Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion contains forward-looking statements
about our business and operations. Our actual results may differ materially from those we currently anticipate as a result of many factors, including those we
describe under "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report.
Overview
Groupon operates online local commerce marketplaces throughout the world that connect merchants to consumers by offering goods and services,
generally at a discount. Consumers access those marketplaces through our websites, primarily localized groupon.com sites in many countries, and our mobile
applications. Traditionally, local merchants have tried to reach consumers and generate sales through a variety of methods, including online advertising, paid
telephone directories, direct mail, newspaper, radio, television and other promotions. By bringing the brick and mortar world of local commerce onto the Internet,
Groupon is helping local merchants to attract customers and sell goods and services. We provide consumers with savings and help them discover what to do, eat,
see and buy and where to travel.
We offer goods and services through our online local commerce marketplaces in three primary categories: Local, Goods and Travel. In our Goods
category, we are generally the merchant of record. Our revenue from transactions in which we act as a third-party marketing agent is the purchase price paid by the
customer, generally for a Groupon voucher (a "Groupon"), less an agreed upon portion of the purchase price paid to the merchant. Our direct revenue from
transactions in which we sell merchandise inventory in our Goods category as the merchant of record is the purchase price paid by the customer. We generated
revenue of $673.6 million during the three months ended March 31, 2017 , as compared to $698.4 million during the three months ended March 31, 2016 .
In October 2016, we completed a strategic review of our remaining international markets in connection with our efforts to optimize our global footprint
and focus on the markets that we believe to have the greatest potential to benefit our long-term financial performance. Based on that review, we decided to focus
our business on 15 core countries, which are primarily based in North America and EMEA, and to pursue strategic alternatives for our operations in the remaining
11 countries, which were primarily based in Asia and Latin America. The dispositions of our operations in those 11 countries were completed between November
2016 and March 2017. A business disposition that represents a strategic shift and has (or will have) a major effect on an entity's operations and financial results is
reported as a discontinued operation. We determined that the decision reached by our management and Board of Directors to exit those 11 non-core countries,
which comprised a substantial majority of our operations outside of North America and EMEA, represents a strategic shift in our business. Based on our review of
quantitative and qualitative factors, we also believe that the disposition of the businesses in those 11 countries will have a major effect on our operations and
financial results. As such, the financial results of our operations in those countries, including any gains or losses on dispositions, are presented as discontinued
operations in our condensed consolidated statements of operations. Unless otherwise stated, all financial information discussed herein represents results from
continuing operations.
We previously organized our operations into three segments: North America, EMEA and Rest of World. As a result of the dispositions discussed above,
which represented a substantial majority of our international operations outside of EMEA and resulted in changes to our internal reporting and leadership structure,
we updated our segment disclosures in the current period to report two segments: North America and International. See Note 13, Segment Information, for further
information. For the three months ended March 31, 2017 , we derived 70.3% of our revenue from our North America segment and 29.7% of our revenue from our
International segment.
In September 2015, we commenced a restructuring plan relating primarily to workforce reductions in our international operations. We have also
undertaken workforce reductions in our North America segment. In addition to workforce reductions in our ongoing markets, we ceased operations in 17 countries
within our International segment from September 2015 through March 2016 in connection with our restructuring actions. Those country exits, which generally
comprised our smallest international markets, resulted from a series of separate decisions made at different times during that period that were not part of an overall
strategic shift. See Note 9, Restructuring , for additional information about our restructuring plan. As a result of the restructuring actions that we have taken, our
operating expenses have decreased significantly in recent periods on a year-over-year basis and we expect that trend to continue through 2017. We currently expect
our restructuring actions to be substantially complete by September 2017.
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How We Measure Our Business
We measure our business with several financial and operating metrics. We use these metrics to assess the progress of our business, make decisions on
where to allocate capital, time and technology investments and assess the long-term performance of our marketplaces. Certain of the financial metrics are reported
in accordance with U.S. GAAP and certain of these metrics are considered non-GAAP financial measures. As our business evolves, we may make changes to our
key financial and operating metrics used to measure our business in future periods. For further information and a reconciliation to the most applicable financial
measure under U.S. GAAP, refer to our discussion under Non-GAAP Financial Measures in the Results of Operations section.
Financial Metrics
•

Gross billings. This metric represents the total dollar value of customer purchases of goods and services. For third- party revenue transactions, gross
billings differs from third-party revenue reported in our consolidated statements of operations, which is presented net of the merchant's share of the
transaction price. For direct revenue transactions, gross billings are equivalent to direct revenue reported in our consolidated statements of operations.
We consider this metric to be an important indicator of our growth and business performance as it measures the dollar volume of transactions
generated through our marketplaces. Tracking gross billings on third-party revenue transactions also allows us to monitor the percentage of gross
billings that we are able to retain after payments to merchants.

•

Revenue. Third-party revenue, which is earned from transactions in which we act as a marketing agent, is reported on a net basis as the purchase price
received from the customer less an agreed upon portion of the purchase price paid to the featured merchant. Direct revenue, which is earned from
sales of merchandise inventory directly to customers through our online marketplaces, is reported on a gross basis as the purchase price received
from the customer.

•

Gross profit. Gross profit reflects the net margin earned after deducting our cost of revenue from our revenue. Due to the lack of comparability
between third-party revenue, which is presented net of the merchant's share of the transaction price, and direct revenue, which is reported on a gross
basis, we believe that gross profit is an important measure for evaluating our performance.

•

Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP performance measure that we define as net income (loss) from continuing operations excluding
income taxes, interest and other non-operating items, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, acquisition-related expense (benefit),
net and other special charges and credits, including items that are unusual in nature or infrequently occurring. For further information and a
reconciliation to the most applicable financial measure under U.S. GAAP, refer to our discussion under Non-GAAP Financial Measures in the
Results of Operations section.

•

Free cash flow. Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure that comprises net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from continuing
operations less purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software from continuing operations. For further information and a
reconciliation to the most applicable financial measure under U.S. GAAP, refer to our discussion under Non-GAAP Financial Measures in the
Results of Operations section.
The following table presents the above financial metrics for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017
Gross billings

$

2016

1,357,976

$

1,369,686

Revenue

673,626

698,435

Gross profit

309,451

320,102

44,780

31,537

(150,309)

(94,629)

Adjusted EBITDA
Free cash flow

The most comparable U.S. GAAP performance measure for Adjusted EBITDA is "Income (loss) from continuing operations" and the most comparable
U.S. GAAP liquidity measure for Free Cash Flow is "Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from continuing operations." For further information and a
reconciliation to the most applicable measure under U.S.
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GAAP, refer to our discussion under Non-GAAP Financial Measures in the Results of Operations section. The following table provides income (loss) from
continuing operations and net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in
thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from
continuing operations

$

2016
(20,869)

$

(43,539)

(136,233)

(74,777)

Operating Metrics
•

Active customers. We define active customers as unique user accounts that have made a purchase through one of our online marketplaces during the
trailing twelve months ("TTM"). We consider this metric to be an important indicator of our business performance as it helps us to understand how
the number of customers actively purchasing our offerings is trending. Some customers could establish and make purchases from more than one
account, so it is possible that our active customer metric may count certain customers more than once in a given period. For entities that we have
acquired in a business combination, active customers include unique user accounts that have made a purchase through the acquired entity's website
during the trailing twelve months, which includes customers who have made purchases prior to our acquisition of the entity.

•

Gross billings and gross profit per average active customer. These metrics represent the trailing twelve months gross billings and gross profit
generated per average active customer. We use these metrics to evaluate average customer spend and resulting gross profit generation.

•

Units . This metric represents the number of purchases made through our online marketplaces, before refunds and cancellations. We consider unit
growth to be an important indicator of the total volume of business conducted through our marketplaces.
Our active customers and gross billings per average active customer for the trailing twelve months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as
follows:
Trailing Twelve Months Ended March 31,
2017 (1)
TTM Active customers (in thousands)

2016 (2)
48,335

44,199

TTM Gross billings per average active customer

$

122.68

$

130.93

TTM Gross profit per average active customer

$

27.45

$

29.63

(1)

TTM Active customers for the trailing twelve months ended March 31, 2017 includes approximately 0.9 million incremental active customers from the acquisition of
LivingSocial, Inc.

(2)

TTM Active customers for the trailing twelve months ended March 31, 2016 has been reduced from 49.3 million active customers previously reported to 44.2 million active
customers due to the exclusion of customers from our operations in 11 countries that have been been presented as discontinued operations. The exclusion of those countries'
gross billings and active customers increased the TTM gross billings per average active customer for the twelve months ended March 31, 2016 from $126.77 previously
reported to $130.93 .

Our units for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2016 (1)

2017
Units (in thousands)
(1)

45,731

47,199

Units have been reduced from 52.2 million to 47.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 due to the exclusion of the units from our operations in 11 countries
that have been presented as discontinued operations.

Factors Affecting Our Performance
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Deal sourcing and quality. We consider our merchant relationships to be a vital part of our business model. We depend on our ability to attract and retain
merchants that are prepared to offer products or services on compelling terms, particularly as we attempt to expand our product and service offerings in order to
create more complete online marketplaces for local commerce. Our online marketplaces, which we sometimes refer to as "pull" marketplaces, enable customers to
search and browse for deal offerings on our websites and mobile applications. In North America and many of our foreign markets, merchants often have a
continuous presence on our websites and mobile applications by offering vouchers on an ongoing basis for an extended period of time. Currently, a substantial
majority of our merchants in North America elect to offer deals in this manner, and we expect that trend to continue. However, merchants have the ability to
withdraw their deal offerings, and we generally do not have noncancelable long-term arrangements to guarantee availability of deals. In order to attract merchants
that may not have run deals on our platform or would have run deals on a competing platform, we have been willing to accept lower deal margins across all three
of our segments and we expect that trend to continue. Additionally, we have been developing product enhancements to reduce friction related to the voucher
redemption process, which we believe could make our services more attractive to merchants, as well as customers, once broadly implemented. If new merchants do
not find our marketing and promotional services effective, or if our existing merchants do not believe that utilizing our services provides them with a long-term
increase in customers, revenue or profit, they may stop making offers through our marketplaces or they may only continue offering deals if we accept lower
margins.
We continue to focus more of our efforts on sourcing local deal offerings in subcategories that provide the best opportunities for high frequency customer
purchase behavior. Those "high frequency use cases" include food and drink (including take-out and delivery), health, beauty and wellness, and events and
activities. In connection with those efforts, we may be willing to offer more attractive terms to local merchants that could reduce our deal margins in future periods.
International operations. Operating a global business requires management attention and resources and requires us to localize our services to conform to a
wide variety of local cultures, business practices, laws and policies. We have reduced our global footprint from 47 countries as of December 31, 2014 to 15
countries as of March 31, 2017. Notwithstanding our reduced global footprint, different commercial and regulatory environments in other countries can make it
difficult for us to successfully operate our business. In addition, many of the automation tools and technology enhancements that we have implemented in North
America are not yet fully implemented in our international markets.
Our international operations have increased as a percentage of our total revenue, primarily due to a higher proportion of direct revenue transactions in the
Goods category of our International segment. For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , 29.7% and 28.3% of our revenue was generated from our
International segment, respectively.
Marketing activities. We must continue to acquire and retain customers in order to increase revenue and achieve profitability. If consumers do not
perceive the offerings on our marketplaces to be attractive, or if we fail to introduce new or more relevant deals, we may not be able to acquire or retain customers.
In addition, as we continue to build out more complete marketplaces, our success will depend on our ability to increase consumer awareness of offerings available
through those marketplaces. We significantly increased our marketing spending throughout 2016 in order to drive customer growth. Our increased levels of
marketing spending in recent periods has included significant offline campaigns intended to increase customer awareness of the Groupon brand and our product
and service offerings. We expect to continue our use of such offline campaigns for the foreseeable future.
As discussed under " Components of Results of Operations ," we consider order discounts, free shipping on qualifying merchandise sales and reducing
margins on our deals to be marketing-related activities, even though these activities are not presented as marketing expenses in our consolidated statements of
operations. We have continued to increase our use of order discounts as a marketing tool in recent periods because we believe that this is an effective method of
driving transaction activity through our marketplaces and acquiring new customers. Additionally, we have, and expect to continue to, reduce our deal margins
when we believe that by doing so we can offer our customers a product or service from a merchant who might not have otherwise been willing to conduct business
through our marketplaces. We consider such margin reductions to be a marketing-related activity because we believe that offering compelling deals from top
merchants on our marketplaces is an effective method of retaining, activating and acquiring customers.
Investment in growth. We intend to continue to invest in product enhancements and infrastructure to support our growth. We also have invested in
business acquisitions to grow our merchant and customer base, expand and advance our product and service offerings and enhance our technology capabilities. We
anticipate that we will make substantial investments in the foreseeable future as we continue to increase our offerings and improve the quality of active deals
available through our marketplaces, broaden our customer base and develop our technology. We are currently developing and testing a number of product
enhancements intended to make our offerings easier to use for both customers and merchants, including "voucherless" offerings that are linked to customer credit
cards and functionality enabling appointment booking at the time an offering is purchased. Deals that offer cash back on a customer's credit card may involve
Groupon collecting a net fee from the merchant, rather than selling a voucher to the customer
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and then remitting a portion of the proceeds to the merchant. We report the sale of vouchers to customers as gross billings, so while we believe that "voucherless"
offerings have the potential to increase customer purchase frequency and generate gross profit growth, our gross billings could be adversely impacted when those
offerings begin to scale.
Additionally, we believe that our restructuring actions and efforts to automate internal processes, which have allowed us to centralize many of our back
office activities in lower cost shared service centers, will enable us to run our business more efficiently with an improved cost structure. We intend to use some of
that cost savings to continue to invest in marketing and product enhancements to drive the growth of our online marketplaces.
Competitive pressure. We face competition from a variety of sources. Some of our competitors offer deals as an add-on to their core businesses, and
others have adopted a business model similar to ours. In addition to such competitors, we expect to increasingly compete against other large Internet and
technology-based businesses that have launched initiatives which are directly competitive to our core business. We also expect to compete against other Internet
sites that are focused on specific communities or interests and offer coupons or discount arrangements related to such communities or interests. Further, as our
business continues to evolve, we anticipate facing new competition. Increased competition in the future may adversely impact our gross billings, revenue and profit
margins.
Results of Operations
Gross Billings
Gross billings represents the total dollar value of customer purchases of goods and services. Gross billings is presented net of customer refunds, order
discounts and sales and related taxes.
Gross billings for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(in thousands)
Gross billings:
Third-party

$

970,552

$

962,012

$

8,540

0.9 %

Direct

372,054

388,769

(16,715)

(4.3)

Other

15,370

18,905

(3,535)

(18.7)

(11,710)

(0.9)

Total gross billings

$

1,357,976

$

1,369,686

$

The effect on our gross billings for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from changes in exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
At Avg. Q1 2016
Rates (1)

Exchange Rate
Effect (2)

As Reported

(in thousands)
Gross billings

$

1,370,001

$

(12,025)

$

1,357,976

(1)

Represents the financial statement balance that would have resulted had exchange rates in the reporting period been the same as those in effect in the prior year period.

(2)

Represents the increase or decrease in the reported amount resulting from changes in exchange rates from those in effect in the prior year period.

The decrease in total gross billings for the three months ended March 31, 2017 resulted from a $39.2 million decrease in our International segment,
partially offset by a $27.4 million increase in our North America segment. See below for information about gross billings by segment.
Gross Billings by Segment
Gross billings by category and segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
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Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(dollars in thousands)
North America:
Local - Third-party and other (1)

$

587,766

$

539,623

$

48,143

8.9 %

Goods:
Third-party
Direct
Travel - Third-party
Total North America gross billings

11,942

8,305

3,637

43.8

250,646
114,163

285,756

(35,110)

(12.3)

103,390

10,773

10.4

964,517

937,074

27,443

2.9

191,219

200,141

(8,922)

(4.5)

27,671

65,735

(38,064)

(57.9)

121,408

103,013

18,395

17.9

53,161

63,723

(10,562)

(16.6)

393,459

432,612

(39,153)

(9.1)

(11,710)

(0.9)

International:
Local - Third-party and other (1)
Goods:
Third-party
Direct
Travel - Third-party
Total International gross billings
Total gross billings
(1)

$

1,357,976

$

1,369,686

$

Includes gross billings from deals with local and national merchants and from local events.

The percentages of gross billings by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Q1 2017

Q1 2016

North America

International

North America
The increase in North America segment gross billings for the three months ended March 31, 2017 reflects increases from third party and other revenue
transactions in our Local and Travel categories. Those increases were primarily attributable to the following:
•
•
•

an increase in active customers, primarily attributable to our continued investments in customer acquisition marketing initiatives;
an increase from our acquisition of LivingSocial, which contributed $18.9 million of Local gross billings, $0.6 million of Goods gross billings, and
$5.8 million of Travel gross billings; and
a shift in the impression mix on our websites and mobile applications toward offerings in our Local category.

The increases in gross billings from the Local and Travel categories were partially offset by a $31.5 million decrease in our Goods category, primarily
relating to direct revenue transactions. We continued our efforts to de-emphasize lower margin product offerings in the current period, which adversely impacted
Goods gross billings. Additionally, the shift in impression mix toward offerings in our Local category adversely impacted Goods gross billings in the current
period. The increases were also
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partially offset by a decrease in gross billings per average active customer in North America, which declined to $30.74 in the current year period from $35.51 in the
prior year period.
Order discounts, which are presented as a reduction of gross billings and revenue, increased by $11.2 million to $50.3 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2017 , as compared to $39.1 million for the prior year period.
International
The decrease in International segment gross billings for the three months ended March 31, 2017 reflects decreases across all three of our categories. Those
decreases were primarily attributable to the following:
•
•
•

a decrease in active customers in our our International segment;
a decrease in gross billings per average active customer in our International segment, which declined to $23.52 in the current year period from $24.66 in
the prior year period; and
a $12.3 million unfavorable impact from year-over-year changes in foreign currency rates.

During the three months ended March 31, 2017 , we continued to shift an increasing proportion of our Goods category to direct revenue transactions, as
we believe that such transactions frequently result in a better customer experience.
Order discounts were $9.3 million for three months ended March 31, 2017 , as compared to $9.5 million for the prior year period.
Revenue
Third-party revenue arises from transactions in which we are acting as a marketing agent primarily by selling vouchers through our online local
commerce marketplaces that can be redeemed for goods or services with third-party merchants. Our third-party revenue from those transactions is reported on a net
basis as the purchase price received from the customer, less an agreed upon portion of the purchase price paid to the merchant.
Direct revenue arises from transactions in our Goods category in which we sell merchandise inventory directly to customers through our online
marketplaces. The direct revenue that we earn from those transactions is reported on a gross basis as the purchase price we receive from the customer.
Other revenue primarily consists of commission revenue earned when customers make purchases with retailers using digital coupons accessed through
our websites and mobile applications, and advertising revenue. The prior year period also includes payment processing revenue.
Revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(in thousands)
Revenue:
Third-party

$

286,207

$

290,724

$

(4,517)

(1.6)%

Direct

372,049

388,806

(16,757)

(4.3)

Other

15,370

18,905

(3,535)

(18.7)

(24,809)

(3.6)

Total revenue

$

673,626

$

698,435

$

The effect on revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from changes in exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
At Avg. Q1 2016
Rates (1)

Exchange Rate Effect

As Reported

(2)

(in thousands)
Revenue

$

680,672
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$

(7,046)

$

673,626

(1)

Represents the financial statement balance that would have resulted had exchange rates in the reporting period been the same as those in effect in the prior year period.

(2)

Represents the increase or decrease in the reported amount resulting from changes in exchange rates from those in effect in the prior year period.

The decrease in total revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 resulted from a $27.5 million decrease in our North America segment, partially
offset by a $2.6 million increase in our International segment. See below for information about revenue by segment.
Revenue by Segment
Revenue by category and segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(dollars in thousands)
North America:
Local - Third-party and other (1)

$

200,545

$

192,153

$

8,392

4.4 %

Goods:
Third-party
Direct
Travel - Third-party
Total North America revenue

1,704

1,990

(286)

(14.4)

250,646

285,756

(35,110)

(12.3)

20,462

20,914

(452)

(2.2)

473,357

500,813

(27,456)

(5.5)

63,575

68,907

(5,332)

(7.7)

(67.5)

International:
Local - Third-party and other (1)
Goods:
Third-party

4,289

13,214

(8,925)

121,403

103,050

18,353

17.8

11,002

12,451

(1,449)

(11.6)

Total International revenue

200,269

197,622

2,647

1.3

Total revenue

673,626

698,435

(24,809)

(3.6)

Direct
Travel - Third-party

(1)

Includes revenue from deals with local and national merchants and through local events.

The percentages of revenue by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Q1 2017

Q1 2016

North America

International
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The percentages of third-party and other gross billings that we retained after deducting the merchant's share for the three months ended March 31, 2017
and 2016 were as follows:
North America

International

North America
The decrease in North America segment revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 reflects a $35.1 million decrease from direct revenue
transactions in our Goods category, resulting from the decrease in Goods gross billings as discussed above. We have begun to increasingly focus the business on
initiatives that are intended to optimize for gross profit to a greater extent than revenue, particularly in our North America segment, including shifting more of the
impression mix toward offerings in our Local category. The resulting shift in North America gross billings away from our Goods category adversely impacted
revenue in the current period, as direct revenue transactions in our Goods category are presented on a gross basis.
The decrease in direct revenue in our Goods category was partially offset by an increase in third party and other revenue in our Local category. The
increase in Local revenue was primarily attributable to the increases in Local gross billings as discussed above, partially offset by a reduction in the percentage of
gross billings that we retained after deducting the merchant’s share to 34.1% , as compared to 35.6% in the prior year period. That reduction in deal margins was
driven by the year-over-year increase in order discounts as discussed above.
International
The increase in International segment revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 reflects an $18.4 million increase in direct revenue transactions
in our Goods category, resulting from the continued shift toward a greater proportion of Goods gross billings arising from direct revenue transactions, as discussed
above. The resulting shift in Goods gross billings to direct revenue transactions favorably impacted revenue in the current period, as direct revenue transactions in
our Goods category are presented on a gross basis.
The increase in direct revenue in our Goods category was partially offset by decreases in third party and other revenue across all three of our categories.
Those decreases were primarily attributable to the decreases in gross billings as discussed above. The percentage of gross billings that we retained after deducting
the merchant’s share on third party and other revenue transactions across our three categories was 29.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2017 , which was
substantially consistent with 28.7% for the prior year period.
There was a $7.1 million unfavorable impact on International segment revenue from year-over-year changes in foreign exchange rates for the three
months ended March 31, 2017 .
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue is comprised of direct and certain indirect costs incurred to generate revenue. For direct revenue transactions, cost of revenue includes the
cost of inventory, shipping and fulfillment costs and inventory markdowns. Fulfillment costs are comprised of third-party logistics provider costs, as well as rent,
depreciation, personnel costs and other costs of operating our fulfillment center. For third-party revenue transactions, cost of revenue includes estimated refunds
for which the merchant's share is not recoverable. Other costs incurred to generate revenue, which include credit card processing fees, editorial costs,
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compensation expense for technology support personnel who are responsible for maintaining the infrastructure of the Company's websites, amortization of
internal-use software relating to customer-facing applications, web hosting and other processing fees, are attributed to cost of third-party revenue, direct revenue
and other revenue in proportion to gross billings during the period.
Cost of revenue on third-party, direct revenue and other revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(in thousands)
Cost of revenue:
Third-party

$

42,573

$

36,681

$

5,892

16.1 %

Direct

321,302

337,273

(15,971)

(4.7)

Other

300

4,379

(4,079)

(93.1)

(14,158)

(3.7)

Total cost of revenue

$

364,175

$

378,333

$

The effect on cost of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from changes in exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
At Avg. Q1 2016
Rates (1)

Exchange Rate Effect

As Reported

(2)

(in thousands)
Cost of revenue

$

367,908

$

(3,733)

$

364,175

(1)

Represents the financial statement balance that would have resulted had exchange rates in the reporting period been the same as those in effect in the prior year period.

(2)

Represents the increase or decrease in the reported amount resulting from changes in exchange rates from those in effect in the prior year period.

The decrease in total cost of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 resulted from a $32.5 million decrease in our North America segment,
partially offset by an $18.3 million increase in our International segment. See below for information about cost of revenue by segment.
Cost of Revenue by Segment
Cost of revenue by category and segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
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Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(dollars in thousands)
North America:
Local - Third-party and other (1)

$

31,203

$

28,135

$

3,068

10.9 %

Goods:
Third-party
Direct

397

317

215,523

251,216

5,297

5,202

252,420

284,870

(32,450)

(11.4)

4,381

4,686

(305)

(6.5)

(882)

(58.4)

Travel - Third-party
Total North America cost of revenue

80
(35,693)
95

25.2
(14.2)
1.8

International:
Local - Third-party and other (1)
Goods:
Third-party
Direct

629

1,511

105,779

86,057

Travel - Third-party
Total International cost of revenue
Total cost of revenue
(1)

$

966

1,209

111,755

93,463

364,175

$

378,333

19,722
(243)
$

22.9
(20.1)

18,292

19.6

(14,158)

(3.7)

Includes cost of revenue from deals with local and national merchants and through local events.

The percentages of cost of revenue by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Q1 2017

Q1 2016

North America

International

North America
The decrease in North America segment cost of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 reflects a $35.7 million decrease from direct revenue
transactions in our Goods category. That decrease was attributable to the following:
•
•

the decrease in direct revenue from our Goods category as discussed above; and
our efforts to de-emphasize lower margin product offerings.
International

The increase in International segment cost of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 reflects a $19.7 million increase from direct revenue
transactions in our Goods category. That increase was attributable to the following:
•

the increase in direct revenue from our Goods category as discussed above; and
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•

initiatives to stimulate demand in our International segment by promoting merchandise offerings for well known brands that often have lower
margins.

There was a $3.7 million favorable impact on International segment cost of revenue from year-over-year changes in foreign exchange rates for the three
months ended March 31, 2017 .
Gross Profit
Gross profit for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(dollars in thousands)
Gross profit:
Third-party

$

243,634

$

254,043

$

(10,409)

(4.1)%

Direct

50,747

51,533

(786)

(1.5)

Other

15,070

14,526

544

3.7

Total gross profit

$

309,451

$

320,102

$

(10,651)

(3.3)

The effect on gross profit for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from changes in exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
At Avg. Q1 2016
Rates (1)

Exchange Rate Effect

As Reported

(2)

(in thousands)
Gross profit

$

312,764

$

(3,313)

$

309,451

(1)

Represents the financial statement balance that would have resulted had exchange rates in the reporting period been the same as those in effect in the prior year period.

(2)

Represents the increase or decrease in the reported amount resulting from changes in exchange rates from those in effect in the prior year period.

The decrease in total gross profit for the three months ended March 31, 2017 resulted from a $15.6 million decrease in our International segment, partially
offset by a $5.0 million increase in our North America segment. See below for information about gross profit by segment.
Gross Profit by Segment
Gross profit by category and segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
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Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(dollars in thousands)
North America:
Local - Third-party and other (1)

$

169,342

$

164,018

$

5,324

3.2 %

Third-party

$

1,307

$

1,673

$

Direct

$

35,123

$

34,540

$

583

1.7

$

15,165

$

15,712

$

(547)

(3.5)

$

220,937

$

215,943

$

Goods:

Travel - Third-party
Total North America gross profit
% of gross billings

22.9%

23.0%

% of revenue

46.7%

43.1%

(366)

(21.9)

4,994

2.3

International:
Local - Third-party and other (1)

$

59,194

$

64,221

(5,027)

(7.8)

(68.7)

Goods:
Third-party

$

3,660

$

11,703

(8,043)

Direct

$

15,624

$

16,993

(1,369)

(8.1)

$

10,036

$

11,242

(1,206)

(10.7)

$

88,514

$

104,159

(15,645)

(15.0)

Travel - Third-party
Total International gross profit

(1)

% of gross billings

22.5%

24.1%

% of revenue

44.2%

52.7%

Includes gross profit from deals with local and national merchants and through local events.

The percentages of gross profit by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Q1 2017

Q1 2016

North America

International

North America
The increase in North America segment gross profit for the three months ended March 31, 2017 reflects a $5.3 million increase in gross profit from our
Local category, which was attributable to the increase in third party and other revenue from our Local category as discussed above.
International
The decrease in International segment gross profit for the three months ended March 31, 2017 reflects lower gross profit across all three of our
categories. That decrease was attributable to the following:
•

the decrease in third party and other revenue across all three of our categories as discussed above; and
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•

the increase in cost of revenue on direct revenue transactions in our Goods category, partially offset by increased direct revenue, both as discussed
above.

There was a $3.4 million unfavorable impact on International segment gross profit from year-over-year changes in foreign exchange rates for the three
months ended March 31, 2017 .
Marketing
Marketing expense consists primarily of online marketing costs, such as search engine marketing, advertising on social networking sites and affiliate
programs, and offline marketing costs, such as television and radio advertising. Additionally, compensation expense for marketing employees is classified within
marketing expense. We record these costs within "Marketing" on the consolidated statements of operations when incurred. From time to time, we offer deals with
well-known national merchants for customer acquisition and activation purposes, for which the amount we owe the merchant for each voucher sold exceeds the
transaction price paid by the customer. Our gross billings from those transactions generate no third-party revenue and our net cost (i.e., the excess of the amount
owed to the merchant over the amount paid by the customer) is classified as marketing expense. We evaluate marketing expense as a percentage of gross billings
and revenue because it gives us an indication of how well our marketing spend is driving gross billings and revenue growth.
Marketing expense by segment as a percentage of gross billings and as a percentage of segment revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and
2016 was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,

2017

% of
Gross
Billings

% of
Segment
Revenue

2016

% of
Gross
Billings

% of
Segment
Revenue

$ Change

% Change

(dollars in thousands)
North America

$

International
Total marketing

$

63,543

6.6%

13.4%

22,799

5.8

11.4

86,342

6.4

12.8

$
$

68,195

7.3%

13.6%

19,100

4.4

9.7

87,295

6.4

12.5

$

(4,652)
3,699

$

(953)

(6.8)%
19.4
(1.1)

In November 2015, we launched a strategic initiative to significantly increase our marketing expenses to drive customer growth and we expect to continue
to invest heavily in marketing throughout 2017. The decrease in total marketing for the three months ended March 31, 2017 resulted from a $4.7 million decrease
in our North America segment, partially offset by a $3.7 million increase in our International segment. See below for information about marketing by segment.
The percentages of marketing expense by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Q1 2017

Q1 2016

North America

International

North America
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The decrease in North America segment marketing expense for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was attributable to lower online marketing,
partially offset by increased offline spending. We also shifted more of our marketing investments in North America to order discounts, which are presented as a
reduction of gross billings and revenue, rather than as marketing expense.
Marketing expense as a percentage of North America gross billings decreased in the current year period, primarily due to the timing of the launch of our
current offline branding campaign. For the full year 2017, we expect marketing expense as a percentage of North America gross billings to increase as compared to
the full year 2016.
International
The increase in International segment marketing expense for the three months ended March 31, 2017 resulted from the expansion of our strategic
initiative to increase our marketing expenses to drive customer growth in our International segment.
Marketing expense as a percentage of International gross billings increased in the current year period, resulting from increased marketing investments
intended to drive customer growth. For the full year 2017, we expect marketing expense as a percentage of International gross billings to increase as compared to
the full year 2016.
There was a $0.7 million favorable impact on International segment marketing expense from year-over-year changes in foreign exchange rates for the
three months ended March 31, 2017 .
Selling, General and Administrative
Selling expenses reported within "Selling, general and administrative" on the consolidated statements of operations consist of sales commissions and
other compensation expenses for sales representatives, as well as costs associated with supporting the sales function such as technology, telecommunications and
travel. General and administrative expenses include compensation expense for employees involved in customer service, operations and technology and product
development, as well as general corporate functions, such as finance, legal and human resources. Additional costs included in general and administrative include
depreciation and amortization, rent, professional fees, litigation costs, travel and entertainment, recruiting, certain technology costs and other general corporate
costs.
Selling, general and administrative expense ("SG&A") for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(dollars in thousands)
Selling, general and administrative

$

232,046

$

262,978

% of gross billings

17.1%

19.2%

% of revenue

34.4%

37.7%

$

(30,932)

(11.8)%

The decrease in SG&A was primarily attributable to the following:
•
•

a $25.2 million decrease in compensation-related costs due to headcount reductions as part of our restructuring plan; and
a $5.1 million favorable impact from year-over-year changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

SG&A as a percentage of gross billings and revenue decreased for the three months ended March 31, 2017 as compared to the prior year period. We
currently expect that SG&A costs will generally continue to decrease throughout the remainder of 2017 as a result of the cost savings from our restructuring
program and other initiatives.
Restructuring Charges
Restructuring charges represent severance and benefit costs for workforce reductions, impairments of long-lived assets and other exit costs resulting from
our restructuring activities. See Note 9, Restructuring, for information about our restructuring plan.
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Income (Loss) from Operations
Income (loss) from operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(dollars in thousands)
North America

$

(14,783)

International
Total income (loss) from operations

$

(41,934)

3,103
$

(11,680)

$

27,151

(3,214)
$

(45,148)

$

64.7%

6,317

196.5

33,468

74.1

North America
The reduction in our loss from operations was attributable to the following:
•
•
•
•
•

a $10.4 million decrease in SG&A;
a $5.0 million increase in gross profit;
a $4.7 million decrease in marketing expense;
a $3.7 million decrease in restructuring charges; and
a $3.5 million decrease in acquisition-related expenses.

Income (loss) from operations includes $18.3 million and $27.1 million of stock-based compensation for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and
2016 , respectively.
International
The improvement in our income (loss) from operations was primarily attributable to the following:
•
•

a $20.5 million decrease in SG&A; and
a $5.1 million decrease in restructuring charges.

Those increases were partially offset by the following:
•
•

a $15.6 million decrease in gross profit; and
a $3.7 million increase in marketing expense.

Income (loss) from operations includes $1.4 million and $2.8 million of stock-based compensation for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 ,
respectively.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net includes interest income, interest expense, gains and losses on fair value option investments, impairments of investments and
foreign currency gains and losses, primarily resulting from intercompany balances with our subsidiaries that are denominated in foreign currencies.
Other income (expense), net for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(dollars in thousands)
Other income (expense), net

$

(4,602)

$

2,618

$

(7,220)

(275.8)%

Other income (expense), net for the three months ended March 31, 2017 primarily consisted of $5.3 million of interest expense. Interest expense increased
by $4.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 , as compared to the prior year period, due to our issuance of convertible notes in April 2016 (See Note
6, Financing Arrangements ).
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Other income (expense), net for the three months ended March 31, 2016 included $7.1 million in foreign currency transaction gains, which primarily
resulted from intercompany balances with our subsidiaries that are denominated in foreign currencies. The foreign currency gains on those intercompany balances
were primarily driven by the appreciation of the Euro against the U.S. dollar from an exchange rate of 1.0913 on December 31, 2015 to 1.1365 on March 31, 2016.
The foreign currency transaction gains of $7.1 million were partially offset by a $1.5 million cumulative translation loss that was reclassified to earnings for
countries that we exited as part of our restructuring plan, $1.1 million of losses on fair value option investments and $1.4 million of other non-operating items.
Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(dollars in thousands)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Effective tax rate

$

4,587

$

(28.2)%

1,009

$

3,578

(354.6)%

(2.4)%

The pretax losses incurred by our operations in jurisdictions that have valuation allowances against their net deferred tax assets, including the United
States, was the primary factor impacting our effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 . We expect that our consolidated effective tax
rate in future periods will continue to differ significantly from the U.S. federal income tax rate as a result of our tax obligations in jurisdictions with profits and
valuation allowances in jurisdictions with losses.
We are currently undergoing income tax audits in multiple jurisdictions. There are many factors, including factors outside of our control, which influence
the progress and completion of these audits. As of March 31, 2017 , we believe that it is reasonably possible that changes of up to $35.3 million in unrecognized
tax benefits may occur within the next 12 months.
Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations
From November 2016 through March 2017, we exited our operations in 11 non-core countries and their results have been presented as discontinued
operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016. See Note 2, Discontinued Operations , for additional information.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
In addition to financial results reported in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we have provided the following non-GAAP financial measures: Adjusted
EBITDA, free cash flow and foreign currency exchange rate neutral operating results. These non-GAAP financial measures, which are presented on a continuing
operations basis, are intended to aid investors in better understanding our current financial performance and prospects for the future as seen through the eyes of
management. We believe that these non- GAAP financial measures facilitate comparisons with our historical results and with the results of peer companies who
present similar measures (although other companies may define non-GAAP measures differently than we define them, even when similar terms are used to identify
such measures). However, these non-GAAP financial measures are not intended to be a substitute for those reported in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
Adjusted EBITDA . Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP performance measure that we define as net income (loss) from continuing operations excluding
income taxes, interest and other non-operating items, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, acquisition-related expense (benefit), net and other
special charges and credits, including items that are unusual in nature or infrequently occurring. Our definition of Adjusted EBITDA may differ from similar
measures used by other companies, even when similar terms are used to identify such measures. Adjusted EBITDA is a key measure used by our management and
Board of Directors to evaluate operating performance, generate future operating plans and make strategic decisions for the allocation of capital. Accordingly, we
believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as our
management and Board of Directors.
We exclude stock-based compensation expense and depreciation and amortization because they are primarily non-cash in nature and we believe that nonGAAP financial measures excluding these items provide meaningful supplemental information about our operating performance and liquidity. Acquisition-related
expense (benefit), net is comprised of the change in the fair value of contingent consideration arrangements and external transaction costs related to business
combinations, primarily consisting of legal and advisory fees. The composition of our contingent consideration arrangements and the impact of those arrangements
on our operating results vary over time based on a number of factors, including the terms of our business combinations and the timing of those transactions. For the
three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, special charges and credits included charges related to our restructuring plan. We exclude special charges and
credits from Adjusted EBITDA because we believe that excluding those items provides meaningful supplemental information about our core operating
performance and facilitates comparisons with our historical results.
The following is a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure, " Income (loss) from continuing operations
" for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

Income (loss) from continuing operations

$

2016

(20,869) $

(43,539)

Adjustments:
Stock-based compensation (1)

19,650

27,293

Depreciation and amortization

34,067

34,415

12

3,464

Restructuring charges

2,731

11,513

Other (income) expense, net

4,602

(2,618)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes

4,587

1,009

Acquisition-related expense (benefit), net

Total adjustments

65,649
$

Adjusted EBITDA
(1)

44,780

75,076
$

31,537

Represents stock-based compensation expense recorded within "Selling, general and administrative," "Cost of revenue," and "Marketing." "Restructuring charges" includes
$2.6 million of additional stock-based compensation for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and "Other (income) expense, net," includes $0.1 million
and $0.2 million of additional stock-based compensation for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Free cash flow. Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure that comprises net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations less
purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software from continuing operations. We use free cash flow to conduct and evaluate our business because,
although it is similar to cash flow from continuing operations,
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we believe that it typically represents a more useful measure of cash flows because purchases of fixed assets, software developed for internal use and website
development costs are necessary components of our ongoing operations. Free cash flow is not intended to represent the total increase or decrease in our cash
balance for the applicable period.
Free cash flow has limitations due to the fact that it does not represent the residual cash flow available for discretionary expenditures. For example, free
cash flow does not include the cash payments for business acquisitions. In addition, free cash flow reflects the impact of the timing difference between when we
are paid by customers and when we pay merchants and suppliers. Therefore, we believe it is important to view free cash flow as a complement to our entire
consolidated statements of cash flows.
The following is a reconciliation of free cash flow to the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure, "Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities from continuing operations," for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

2016

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from continuing operations
Purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software from continuing
operations

$

(136,233)

$

Free cash flow

$

(150,309)

$

(94,629)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities from continuing operations

$

(14,020)

$

(20,678)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

$

(45,726)

$

(78,015)

(14,076)

(74,777)
(19,852)

Foreign currency exchange rate neutral operating results. Foreign currency exchange rate neutral operating results show current period operating results
as if foreign currency exchange rates had remained the same as those in effect in the prior year period. These measures are intended to facilitate comparisons to our
historical performance. For a reconciliation of foreign currency exchange rate neutral operating results to the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial measures, see
"Results of Operations" above.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of March 31, 2017 , we had $691.0 million in cash and cash equivalents, which primarily consisted of cash and government money market funds.
Since our inception, we have funded our working capital requirements primarily with cash flows provided by operations and through public and private
sales of common and preferred stock, which have yielded net proceeds of approximately $1,857.1 million . In connection with our third-party and direct revenue
sales transactions, we collect cash from credit card payment processors shortly after a sale occurs and remit payment to merchants and inventory suppliers at a later
date in accordance with the related contractual payment terms. We expect this favorable working capital cycle to continue for the foreseeable future. In April 2016,
we issued 3.25% senior convertible notes due 2020 (the "Notes") with an aggregate principal amount of $250.0 million. See Note 6, Financing Arrangements , for
additional information.
Our merchant arrangements are structured as either a redemption payment model or a fixed payment model defined as follows:
Redemption payment model - We typically pay our merchants upon redemption for the majority of third-party offerings available through our online
marketplaces in our International segment. Under our redemption merchant payment model, we collect payments at the time customers purchase vouchers and
make payments to merchants at a subsequent date. Using this payment model, merchants are not paid until the customer redeems the voucher that has been
purchased. If a customer does not redeem the voucher under this payment model, we retain all of the gross billings from the unredeemed voucher. The redemption
model generally improves our overall cash flow because we do not pay our merchants until the customer redeems the voucher.
Fixed payment model - We typically pay merchants under the fixed payment model for a majority of offerings available through our online marketplace in
North America. Under the fixed payment model, merchants are paid regardless of whether the voucher is redeemed. For third-party revenue deals in which the
merchant has a continuous presence on our websites and mobile applications by offering deals for an extended period of time, which currently represents a
substantial majority of our third-party
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offerings in North America, we remit payments to the merchant on an ongoing basis, generally bi-weekly, throughout the term of the offering. For product
offerings in our Goods category, payment terms with inventory suppliers across our three segments typically range from net 30 days to net 60 days.
We experience fluctuations in accrued merchant and supplier payables associated with our revenue-generating activities, including both third-party and
direct revenue sales transactions, that can cause volatility in working capital levels and impact cash balances more or less than our operating income or loss would
indicate. Additionally, the impact of the transactions in our Goods category on our operating cash flows varies from period to period. For example, the cash flows
from transactions in our Goods category are impacted by seasonality, with strong cash inflows typically generated during the fourth quarter holiday season
followed by subsequent cash outflows in the following period when payments are made to suppliers of the merchandise.
We generally use our cash flows to fund our operations, make acquisitions, purchase capital assets, purchase stock under our share repurchase program
and meet our other cash operating needs. Cash flow used in operating activities, including discontinued operations, was $137.3 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2017 and cash flow used in operations, including discontinued operations, was $76.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 , respectively.
We consider the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries as of March 31, 2017 to be indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no U.S. income
taxes have been provided thereon. As of March 31, 2017 , the amount of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign jurisdictions was approximately $227.8 million .
We have not, nor do we anticipate the need to, repatriate funds to the United States to satisfy domestic liquidity needs arising in the ordinary course of business.
In April 2016, we received net proceeds of $243.2 million from the issuance of the Notes. We have used the proceeds from the Notes for general
corporate purposes, including repurchases of shares of our common stock. Additionally, we entered into note hedge and warrant transactions with certain bank
counterparties that are designed to offset, in part, the potential dilution from conversion of the Notes. See Note 6, Financing Arrangements, for additional
information.
Our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provides for aggregate principal borrowings of up to $250.0 million and matures in July 2019. As of March
31 2017, we had no borrowings under our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and were in compliance with all covenants. See Note 6, Financing
Arrangements , for additional information.
Although we can provide no assurances, we believe that our available cash and cash equivalents balance and cash generated from operations should be
sufficient to meet our working capital requirements and other capital expenditures for at least the next twelve months.
Uses of Cash
We expect to continue to make significant investments in our technology platforms and business processes, as well as internal tools aimed at improving
the efficiency of our operations. We will also continue to invest in sales and marketing as we seek to increase deal coverage, improve the quality of active deals
and increase the volume of transactions through our marketplaces.
The Board has authorized us to repurchase up to $700.0 million of our common stock through April 2018 under our share repurchase program. During the
three months ended March 31, 2016, we purchased 7,336,681 shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $26.0 million (including fees and
commissions) under the share repurchase program. As of March 31, 2017, up to $169.0 million of our common stock remained available for purchase under that
program. The timing and amount of any share repurchases are determined based on market conditions, share price and other factors, and the programs may be
discontinued or suspended at any time. Repurchases will be made in compliance with SEC rules and other legal requirements and may be made, in part, under a
Rule 10b5-1 plan, which permits share repurchases when the Company might otherwise be precluded from doing so.
We currently plan to use our cash and cash equivalents and cash flows generated from our operations to fund share repurchases, strategic minority
investments, business acquisitions and other transactions and investments in technology and marketing. Additionally, we have the ability to borrow funds under our
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, as described above. We could also seek to raise additional financing, if available on terms that we believe are favorable,
to increase the amount of liquid funds that we can access for share repurchases, future acquisitions or other strategic investment opportunities.
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Cash Flow
Our net cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

(in thousands)

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities from continuing operations

$

Operating activities from discontinued operations
Operating activities
Investing activities from continuing operations
Investing activities from discontinued operations

(136,233)

$

(74,777)

$

(61,456)

(1,098)

(1,948)

850

(137,331)

(76,725)

(60,606)

(14,020)

(20,678)

6,658

(7,547)

(100)

(7,447)

Investing activities

(21,567)

(20,778)

(789)

Financing activities

(45,726)

(78,015)

32,289

3,756

10,668

(6,912)

(164,850)

(36,018)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents, including cash classified within
current assets of discontinued operations
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, including cash classified within current assets
of discontinued operations

(200,868)

Less: Net increase (decrease) in cash classified within current assets of discontinued operations

(28,866)
$

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(172,002)

3,993
$

(168,843)

(32,859)
$

(3,159)

Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities primarily consists of our net loss adjusted for certain items, including depreciation and amortization, stockbased compensation, restructuring charges, deferred income taxes and the effect of changes in working capital and other items.
For the three months ended March 31, 2017 , our net cash used in operating activities from continuing operations was $136.2 million , which resulted
from the following:
•

•

a $171.4 million net decrease related to changes in working capital and other assets and liabilities. That net decrease primarily resulted from a
$138.2 million decrease in accrued merchant and supplier payables due to the timing of payments to suppliers of merchandise and the seasonally
high levels of Goods transactions in the fourth quarter of 2016, as well as the shift in impression mix toward offerings in our Local category,
which further contributed to the decline in Goods gross billings in the current period; and
a $20.9 million net loss from continuing operations.

These items were partially offset by a $56.0 million net increase for certain non-cash items, primarily consisting of depreciation and amortization and
stock-based compensation.
For the three months ended March 31, 2016 , our net cash used in operating activities from continuing operations was $74.8 million , which resulted from
the following:
•
•

a $98.0 million net decrease related to changes in working capital and other assets and liabilities. That net decrease primarily resulted from a
$109.3 million in accrued merchant and supplier payables due to the timing of payments to suppliers of merchandise and the seasonally high
levels of Goods transactions in the fourth quarter of 2015; and
a $43.5 million net loss from continuing operations.

These items were partially offset by a $66.8 million net increase for certain non-cash items, primarily consisting of depreciation and amortization and
stock-based compensation.
Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities
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Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities from continuing operations primarily consists of capital expenditures, including capitalized
internally-developed software.
For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, our net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations of $14.0 million and $20.7
million primarily consisted of $14.1 million and $19.9 million in capital expenditures, respectively.
Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities primarily consists of proceeds from the issuance of convertible senior notes, payments for issuance
costs related to the convertible senior notes and the amended and restated revolving credit agreement, payments for the purchase of convertible note hedges,
proceeds from the issuance of warrants, payments for purchases of treasury stock, taxes paid related to net share settlements of stock-based compensation awards,
proceeds from stock option exercises and our employee stock purchase plan, distributions to noncontrolling interest holders and payments of capital lease
obligations.
For the three months ended March 31, 2017 , our net cash used in financing activities of $45.7 million was driven by the following:
•
•
•

purchases of treasury stock under our share repurchase program of $27.2 million ;
payments of capital lease obligations of $8.1 million ; and
taxes paid related to net share settlements of stock-based compensation awards of $9.0 million .

For the three months ended March 31, 2016 , our net cash used in financing activities of $78.0 million was driven by the following:
•
•
•

purchases of treasury stock under our share repurchase program of $64.7 million ;
payments of capital lease obligations of $7.0 million ; and
taxes paid related to net share settlements of stock-based compensation awards of $5.0 million.

Free Cash Flow
Free cash flow, a non-GAAP financial measure that comprises net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations less purchases of
property and equipment and capitalized software from continuing operations. Free cash flow for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

(dollars in thousands)
Free cash flow

$

(150,309)

$

(94,629)

$

(55,680)

(58.8)%

The decrease in free cash flow for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was primarily due to a $61.5 million decrease in our operating cash flows from
continuing operations.
For further information and a reconciliation to the most applicable financial measure under U.S. GAAP, refer to our discussion under " Non-GAAP
Financial Measures " above.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Our contractual obligations and commitments as of March 31, 2017 did not materially change from the amounts set forth in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of March 31, 2017 .
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
and classifications of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent liabilities. Management bases its estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based upon our condensed consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies, in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 , as filed with
the SEC on February 15, 2017. In addition, refer to the critical accounting policies and estimates under Part II, Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 . There have been no material changes
to our critical accounting policies and estimates during the three months ended March 31, 2017.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers . This ASU is a
comprehensive new revenue recognition model that requires a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount
that reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers: Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Gross versus Net) , which is effective upon adoption of ASU 2014-09. This ASU
clarifies the implementation guidance in ASU 2014-09 on principal versus agent considerations. These ASUs are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those annual periods. We do not expect that the ASUs will change our net presentation of revenue for
transactions in our Local and Travel categories and we are still assessing gross versus net presentation under the ASUs for certain revenue transactions in our
Goods category. Additionally, for merchant payment arrangements that are structured under a redemption model, we expect that we will be required to estimate the
incremental revenue from vouchers that will not ultimately be redeemed and recognize that amount as revenue at the time of sale under the new guidance, rather
than when our legal obligation expires. The potential impact of that change could increase or decrease our revenue in any given period as compared to our current
policy depending on the relative amounts of the estimated incremental revenue from unredeemed vouchers on current transactions as compared to the actual
incremental revenue from vouchers that expire unredeemed in that period. We are still evaluating these ASUs for other potential impacts on our condensed
consolidated financial statements. We currently plan to adopt the ASUs using the "modified retrospective" approach, which requires the cumulative effect of
initially applying the guidance to be recognized as an adjustment to our accumulated deficit as of the January 1, 2018 adoption date.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments (Topic 825-10) - Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities. This ASU requires equity securities to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized through net income and will eliminate
the cost method for equity securities without readily determinable fair values. The ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2017, and interim periods within those annual periods. The impact of the ASU on our cost method investments will depend on changes in their fair values in
periods after the adoption date. See Note 4, Investments , for information about our cost method investments. While we are still assessing the impact of ASU 201601, we do not expect that the adoption of this guidance will otherwise have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) . The ASU will require lessees to recognize assets and liabilities arising from
leases, including operating leases, to be recognized on the balance sheet. The ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 31, 2018 and
interim periods within those annual periods. We are still assessing the impact of ASU 2016-02. See Item 8, Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies , in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 for information about our lease commitments.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) - Restricted Cash . This ASU requires that companies include
amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents, along with cash and cash equivalents, when reconciling the beginning-of-period and
end-of-period amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim
periods within those annual periods. We had $10.2 million and $12.0 million of restricted cash as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.

57

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805) - Clarifying the Definition of a Business. This ASU provides
clarification on the definition of a business and adds guidance to assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or
disposals) of assets or businesses. The ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those annual
periods. While we are still assessing the impact of ASU 2017-01, we do not believe that the adoption of this guidance will have a material impact on our condensed
consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) - Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment. This
ASU eliminates Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test and requires a goodwill impairment to be measured as the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying
amount exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of its goodwill. The ASU is effective for annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2019. While we are still assessing the impact of ASU 2017-04, we do not believe that the adoption of this guidance will have a
material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.
In February 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-05, Other Income-Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets (Subtopic 610-20) Clarifying the Scope of Asset Derecognition Guidance and Accounting for Partial Sales of Nonfinancial Assets. This ASU is meant to clarify the scope of ASC
Subtopic 610-20, Other Income-Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets , and to add guidance for partial sales of nonfinancial
assets. The Company is required to adopt ASU 2017-05 at the same time that it adopts the guidance in ASU 2014-09. We do not believe that the adoption of this
guidance will have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.
In February 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, Compensation - Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension
Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost. This ASU requires employers to include only the service cost component of net periodic pension cost in
operating expenses, together with other employee compensation costs. The other components of net periodic pension cost, including interest cost, expected return
on plan assets, amortization of prior service cost and settlement and curtailment effects, are to be included in non-operating expenses. The ASU is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those annual periods. While we are still assessing the impact of ASU
2017-07, we do not believe that the adoption of this guidance will have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.
There are no other accounting standards that have been issued but not yet adopted that we believe could have a material impact on our condensed
consolidated financial position or results of operations.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We have operations both within the United States and internationally, and we are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, including
the effect of foreign currency fluctuations, interest rate changes and inflation. Information relating to quantitative and qualitative disclosures about these market
risks is set forth below.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
We transact business in various foreign currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally the Euro, British pound sterling, Japanese yen and Swiss Franc,
which exposes us to foreign currency risk. For the three months ended March 31, 2017 , we derived approximately 29.7% of our revenue from our International
segment. Revenue and related expenses generated from our international operations are generally denominated in the local currencies of the corresponding
countries. The functional currencies of our subsidiaries that either operate or support these markets are generally the same as the corresponding local currencies.
The results of operations of, and certain of our intercompany balances associated with, our international operations are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations. Upon consolidation, as exchange rates vary, our revenue and other operating results may differ materially from expectations, and we may record
significant gains or losses on the re-measurement of intercompany balances. The British pound sterling has declined significantly against the U.S. dollar following
the U.K.’s non-binding "Brexit" referendum on June 23, 2016, whereby a majority of voters supported its withdrawal from the European Union. As a result of the
decline in sterling, the gross billings and revenue from our U.K. operations have been and are expected to continue to be be adversely impacted and the expenses
from our U.K. operations have been and are expected to continue to be favorably impacted in future periods because our financial statements are reported in U.S.
dollars.
We assess our foreign currency exchange risk based on hypothetical changes in rates utilizing a sensitivity analysis that measures the potential impact on
working capital based on a 10% change (increase and decrease) in currency rates. We use a current market pricing model to assess the changes in the value of the
U.S. dollar on foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities. The primary assumption used in this model is a hypothetical 10% weakening or
strengthening of the U.S. dollar against those currency exposures as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 .
As of March 31, 2017 , our net working capital deficit (defined as current assets less current liabilities) from subsidiaries that are subject to foreign
currency translation risk was $32.0 million . The potential increase in this working capital deficit from a hypothetical 10% adverse change in quoted foreign
currency exchange rates would be $3.2 million . This compares to a $61.6 million working capital deficit subject to foreign currency exposure as of December 31,
2016 , for which a 10% adverse change would have resulted in a potential increase in this working capital deficit of $6.2 million .
Interest Rate Risk
Our cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of cash and government money market funds. Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates is
limited because our cash and cash equivalents have a short-term maturity and are used primarily for working capital purposes. In April 2016, we issued convertible
notes with an aggregate principal amount of $250.0 million (see Note 6, Financing Arrangements ). The convertible notes bear interest at a fixed rate, so we have
no financial statement impact from changes in interest rates. However, changes in market interest rates impact the fair value of the convertible notes along with
other variables such as our credit spreads and the market price and volatility of our common stock. In June 2016, we entered into the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement that provides for aggregate principal borrowings of up to $250.0 million . The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement replaced our previous $250.0
million credit agreement that was scheduled to expire in August 2017. As of March 31, 2017 , there were no borrowings outstanding under the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement. Because our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement bears interest at a variable rate, we are exposed to market risk relating to
changes in interest rates if we borrow under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. We also have $42.1 million of capital lease obligations and $12.0
million of investments in convertible debt securities issued by nonpublic entities that are classified as available-for-sale. We do not believe that the interest rate risk
on the long-term capital lease obligations and investments is significant.
Impact of Inflation
We believe that our results of operations are not materially impacted by moderate changes in the inflation rate. Inflation and changing prices did not have
a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017 .
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), as
of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Based on this evaluation, our management concluded that, as of March 31, 2017 , our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide
reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and
reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures
In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and
procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible
controls and procedures relative to their costs.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
For a description of our material pending legal proceedings, please see Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, to our condensed consolidated financial
statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on the Form 10-Q.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
There have been no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2016.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
During the three months ended March 31, 2017 , we did not issue any unregistered securities.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
During the three months ended March 31, 2017 , we purchased 7,336,681 shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $26.0 million
(including fees and commissions) under our share repurchase program. A summary of our common stock repurchases during the three months ended March 31,
2017 under our share repurchase program is set forth in the following table:

Date

Total Number of
Shares
Purchased

January 1-31, 2017

4,840,300

February 1-28, 2017

2,496,381

March 1-31, 2017

Average Price
Paid Per Share
$

3.51

4,840,300

$

178,037,504

3.62

2,496,381

$

169,029,666

—

—

$

169,029,666

3.55

7,336,681

$

169,029,666

—
7,336,681

Total

$

Maximum Number (or
Approximate Dollar Value) of
Shares that May Yet Be Purchased
Under Program

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of Publicly
Announced Program

See Note 8, Stockholders' Equity and Compensation Arrangements, for discussion regarding our share repurchase programs.
The following table provides information about purchases of shares of our common stock during the three months ended March 31, 2017 related to shares
withheld upon vesting of restricted stock units for minimum tax withholding obligations:

Date

Total Number of
Shares
Purchased (1)

January 1-31, 2017

485,056

February 1-28, 2017

315,506

March 1-31, 2017

1,220,075

Total

2,020,637

(1)

Average Price
Paid Per Share
$

$

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of Publicly
Announced Program

Maximum Number (or Approximate
Dollar Value) of Shares that May Yet
Be Purchased Under Program

3.62

—

$

—

4.31

—

$

—

4.15

—

$

—

4.05

—

$

—

Total number of shares delivered to us by employees to satisfy the mandatory tax withholding requirement upon vesting of stock-based compensation awards.
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ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
As part of its review of the terms of, and the competitiveness of the level of benefits in, its severance benefits agreements, the Company entered into
amended severance benefit agreements ("SBAs") with its named executive officers: Rich Williams, Chief Executive Officer; Michael Randolfi, Chief Financial
Officer; Dane Drobny, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary; Jay Sullivan, Chief Product Officer; and Brian Stevens, Chief Accounting Officer & Treasurer.
The SBAs were revised to provide benefits and terms consistent with peer company and market practices and to clarify the treatment of performance share units
("PSUs") for those executives whose original severance benefit agreements preceded the Company’s introduction of PSUs. The SBAs include the following
revised terms:
(i) certain changes to the definitions of "good reason" relating to whether certain changes to the executive’s reporting relationship following a “change in
control” constitute good reason;
(ii) with respect to payments upon termination of employment in connection with a change in control: (a) for Messrs. Williams, Randolfi and Drobny, a
lump sum payment equal to the pro-rated portion of his target annual cash incentive award; (b) for Messrs. Randolfi, Drobny and Sullivan an increase in
the percentage of vesting of their unvested equity-based awards from 50% to 100% for Messrs. Randolfi and Drobny, and from 25% to 50% for Mr.
Sullivan; and (c) for Messrs. Drobny, Stevens and Sullivan, an increase in the duration of salary payments and COBRA continuation coverage (from six
to twelve months); and
(iii) with respect to payments upon termination of Mr. Drobny’s employment not in connection with a change in control, an increase in the duration of
salary payments and COBRA continuation coverage (from six to twelve months), continued vesting of time-based equity awards (increased from six to
twelve months), and vesting of all performance-based equity awards, subject to the Company's actual performance (an increase from the six months of
additional vesting to which he was previously entitled).
The foregoing summary of the SBAs is qualified by reference to the form of severance benefit agreement filed as Exhibit 10.1 hereto and incorporated by
reference herein.
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
See the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on this 3rd day of May 2017.
GROUPON, INC.
By:
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/s/ Michael Randolfi
Name:

Michael Randolfi

Title:

Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBITS
Exhibit
Number

Description

10.1

Form of Severance Benefit Agreement

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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Exhibit 10.1
GROUPON, INC. 2017 SEVERANCE BENEFIT AGREEMENT
This SEVERANCE BENEFIT AGREEMENT (the " Agreement ") is entered into on the ____ day of __________, 2017 (the "
Effective Date ") between Groupon, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and [NAME] (the " Executive ").
WHEREAS, the Executive will continue to serve as a key employee of the Company and the Executive’s continued services and
knowledge are valuable to the Company in connection with the management of one or more of the Company’s principal operating facilities,
divisions, departments or subsidiaries;
WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to enter into this Agreement;
and
WHEREAS, the Executive and the Company were parties to a prior severance benefit agreement, which they agree (i) is terminated
and superseded in its entirety by the Agreement as of the Effective Date and (ii) is not to be considered an Individual Agreement as defined
herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the Company and
the Executive hereby agree as follows:
1.

Definitions . As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the respective meanings set forth below:

A." Board " means the Board of Directors of the Company.
B.

" Cause " means:

i.

the Executive’s material failure to perform his or her reasonably assigned duties as an employee (other than a failure
resulting from the Executive’s disability) after written notice of such failure from the Company describing the failure
to perform such duties and a reasonable time to cure of at least thirty (30) days;

ii.

the Executive’s engaging in any intentional act of fraud, theft, dishonesty, or falsification with respect to the
Company;

iii.

the Executive’s conviction (including a plea of guilty or nolo contendere) of (a) a felony, (b) a crime of moral
turpitude, or (c) a criminal act that prevents the Executive from performing his or her duties with the Company;

iv.

the Executive’s engaging in gross misconduct or the material violation of the Company’s Global Code of Business
Conduct;

v.

the Executive’s violation of any federal or state law or regulation applicable to the business of the Company; or

vi.

the intentional material breach of any provision of an Individual Agreement where such breach continues or is not
cured (if curable) for more than thirty (30) days after written notice from the Company to the Executive specifying
the nature of such breach.
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Termination by the Company shall not be treated as for "Cause" unless the Company terminates the Executive’s employment
within ninety (90) days following the initial occurrence of the above conditions.

C." Change in Control " means the occurrence of either of the following events:
i.

an Ownership Change Event or a series of related Ownership Change Events (collectively, a " Transaction ") in which
the stockholders of the Company immediately before the Transaction do not retain immediately after the Transaction
direct or indirect beneficial ownership of more than fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting power of the
outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in the election of Board members or, in the case of an Ownership
Change Event described in clause (iii) of the definition of Ownership Change Event, the entity to which the assets of
the Company were transferred (the " Transferee "), as the case may be; or

ii.

approval by the stockholders of a plan of complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company;

provided , however , that a Change in Control shall be deemed not to include: (a) a transaction in which a majority of the
members of the board of directors of the continuing, surviving or successor entity, or parent thereof, immediately after such
transaction is comprised of Incumbent Directors; or (b) the conversion of the Company’s Class A common stock and Class B
common stock into common stock. For purposes of the preceding sentence, indirect beneficial ownership shall include,
without limitation, an interest resulting from ownership of the voting securities of one or more corporations or other business
entities which own the Company or the Transferee, as the case may be, either directly or through one or more subsidiary
corporations or other business entities. The Board shall have the right to determine whether multiple sales or exchanges of the
voting securities of the Company or multiple Ownership Change Events are related, and its determination shall be final,
binding and conclusive.

D." Change in Control Termination " means an Eligible Termination that occurs during the 12-month period beginning on the date
of a Change in Control. A Change in Control Termination also includes an Eligible Termination in circumstances where (i)
a Change in Control occurs, and (ii) the Executive’s employment with the Company was terminated in an Eligible
Termination without Cause within six (6) months prior to the date on which the Change in Control occurs.

E." Code " means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
F." Company " means Groupon, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
G. " Eligible Termination " means the Executive’s "separation from service" (within the meaning of Section 409A) with the
Company and its subsidiaries that is (i) an involuntary termination of employment by the Company without Cause, or (ii) a
resignation for Good Reason. An Eligible Termination does not include a termination of employment (a) by the Company
for Cause, (b) by the Executive other than for Good Reason, (c) as a result of the Executive’s death, or (d) by the Company
due to the Executive’s absence from the
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Executive’s duties with the Company on a full-time basis for at least 180 consecutive days as a result of the Executive’s
incapacity due to physical or mental illness. An Eligible Termination also does not include a termination of employment
occurring upon a sale of all or part of the business in which the Executive is employed, a merger or other combination, spinoff, reorganization or liquidation, dissolution or other winding up or other similar transaction involving the Company, in any
such case where an offer of comparable employment is made to the Executive by the purchaser, acquirer or successor or
surviving entity (including a third-party vendor) concurrently with his or her termination.

H. " Equity-Based Award " means a Stock Option, restricted stock unit or other equity-based award granted under the Incentive
Plan.

I. " Good Reason " means, without the Executive’s express written consent, the occurrence of any of the following events:
i.

a material adverse change in the nature or scope of the Executive’s authority, powers, functions, duties,
responsibilities, or reporting relationship
[ For the Chief Executive Officer only: (including Executive’s ceasing to directly report to the chief executive officer
or board of directors of a publicly traded entity);]
[ For the Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and Chief Accounting Officer only: (including Executive’s
ceasing to directly report to the chief executive officer, [ For the Chief Accounting Officer only : president, executive
vice president, chief financial officer, senior vice president] or board of directors of a publicly traded entity);
provided, however, it shall not be Good Reason under this clause (i) if, following a Change in Control in which the
Company is acquired and remains a separate business entity as part of another entity, Executive continues to (a) serve
as [chief financial officer][general counsel][chief accounting officer] of the Company or its successor and (b) directly
report to the [chief executive officer][chief financial officer] of the Company serving in such position immediately
prior to such Change in Control;]
[ For the other applicable executives: provided that it shall not be a material adverse change in Executive’s reporting
relationship if the Executive directly reports to (a) the board of directors or (b) an individual who is at the level of
chief executive officer, president, executive vice president or senior vice-president, in each case of (a) and (b), of the
Company or its successor (including the Company’s or its successor’s ultimate parent company, if any);]
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ii.

a material reduction by the Company in the Executive’s rate of annual base salary;

iii.

the failure of the Company to continue any material compensation plan in which the Executive is participating, unless
the Executive is permitted to participate in other plans providing the Executive with substantially comparable
compensation-related benefits, or the taking of any action by the Company which would adversely affect the
Executive’s participation in or materially reduce the Executive’s compensation-related benefits under any such plan;

iv.

a change in the Executive’s primary employment location to a location that is more than 50 miles from the primary
location of the Executive’s employment immediately before such change; or

v.

the failure of the Company to obtain from any successor or transferee of the Company an express written and
unconditional assumption of the Company’s obligations under this Agreement, as further described in
Section 5.C(ii) of this Agreement.

The Executive’s employment may be terminated by the Executive for Good Reason only if (a) an event or circumstance set
forth in this Section 1.I shall have occurred and the Executive provides the Company with written notice thereof within ninety
(90) days after the Executive has knowledge of the occurrence or existence of such event or circumstance, which notice shall
specifically identify the event or circumstance that the Executive believes constitutes Good Reason, (b) the Company fails to
correct the circumstance or event so identified within thirty (30) days after the receipt of such notice, and (c) the Executive
resigns within sixty (60) days following the expiration of the cure period referenced in the preceding clause (b).

J." Incentive Plan " means the Groupon, Inc. 2011 Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time.
K. " Incumbent Director " means a director who either (i) is a member of the Board as of the Effective Date or (ii) is elected, or
nominated for election, to the Board with the affirmative votes of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors at the time
of such election or nomination (but excluding a director who was elected or nominated in connection with an actual or
threatened proxy contest relating to the election of directors of the Company).

L." Individual Agreement " means an employment or other agreement between the Executive and the Company that was in effect
on the Effective Date and provides for severance benefits in the event of qualifying terminations of employment (as
determined under such agreement). If the Executive is covered by an Individual Agreement that provides for severance
benefits upon the Executive’s termination for "good reason" (as defined in such Individual Agreement), the Individual
Agreement shall be deemed amended to the extent necessary to include within such "good reason" definition any
circumstance that would entitle the Executive to terminate his or her employment for Good Reason under Section 1.I.

M. " Ownership Change Event " means the occurrence of any of the following with respect to the Company: (i) the direct or
indirect sale or exchange in a single or series of related transactions by the stockholders of the Company of securities of
the Company representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting power of the Company’s then-
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outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in the election of Board members; (ii) a merger or consolidation in which the
Company is a party; or (iii) the sale, exchange, or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company (other than a
sale, exchange or transfer to one or more subsidiaries).

N." Section 409A " means Section 409A of the Code and the regulations thereunder.
O. " Stock Option " means a stock option granted under the Incentive Plan.
P." Termination Date " means the date on which an Executive experiences an Eligible Termination.
2.

Severance Benefits .

A.Eligibility . The provisions of this Section 2 apply only if (i) the Executive experiences an Eligible Termination, (ii) the Executive
executes the Confidentiality, Intellectual Property and Restrictive Covenants Agreement (the " CIPRA ") or an equivalent
agreement that includes Non-Compete (excluding California Executives), Nonsolicitation and No-Hire clauses and (iii) the
Executive executes a standard mutual separation agreement containing, among other provisions, a release of claims in
substantially the form attached hereto as Attachment A (a " Release ") within forty-five (45) days following the
Termination Date, and does not revoke such Release before the date the release of claims contained therein becomes
effective.

B.Basic Cash Severance Payment . If at the time of the Eligible Termination the Executive is not covered by an Individual
Agreement, the Company shall pay the Executive in a lump sum on the 60 th day after the Termination Date (the " Payment
Date ") an amount equal to ________ (___) months of the Executive’s annual base salary from the Company and its
subsidiaries to the extent not theretofore paid;
[ For the applicable executives: provided, that, if such Eligible Termination is a Change in Control Termination, the amount
payable under this Section 2.B shall be, in lieu of the foregoing, equal to ____ (___) months of the Executive’s base salary.
No amount shall be payable under this Section 2.B if at the time of the Eligible Termination the Executive is covered by an
Individual Agreement.] OR
[ For the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the General Counsel only: provided however, no amount
shall be payable pursuant to the preceding clause under this Section 2.B if at the time of the Eligible Termination the
Executive is covered by an Individual Agreement. If at the time of a Change in Control Termination the Executive is not
covered by an Individual Agreement, the Company shall pay the Executive, in addition to the payment provided for in the
preceding sentence, in a lump sum on the Payment Date an amount equal to the Executive’s target annual cash incentive
award for the year of such Change in Control Termination (to the extent not theretofore paid) multiplied by a fraction, the
numerator of which is the number of days of Executive’s employment during the calendar year of such Change in Control
Termination, and the denominator of which is the number of days in the calendar year in which the Change in Control
Termination occurs. No amount shall be payable pursuant to the preceding sentence under this Section 2.B if at the time of
the Change in Control Termination the Executive is covered by an Individual Agreement.]
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C.Additional Cash Severance Payment . If (i) at the time of the Eligible Termination the Executive is not covered by an Individual
Agreement that provides for Company-subsidized coverage under Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (" COBRA ") or any payment intended to serve as an allowance for
post-termination health care coverage, and (ii) on the Payment Date the Executive is enrolled in COBRA continuation
coverage under the Company’s group health plan, the Company shall pay the Executive in a lump sum on the Payment
Date an amount equal to the monthly COBRA premium applicable to the Executive as of the Payment Date multiplied by
the number of months for which the Executive is entitled to payment under Section 2.B above. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, this Section 2.C shall cease to apply as of the effective date of any regulation or other guidance under which
payment of such component would be deemed to violate any nondiscrimination requirements under the Patient Protection
and Affordable Care Act.

D.Equity Award Vesting Acceleration .

3.

i.

Upon an Eligible Termination that is not a Change in Control Termination, the vesting and exercisability of the
Executive’s Stock Options and other Equity-Based Awards shall be accelerated to the extent provided in Exhibit 1.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, an Executive who is covered under an Individual Agreement shall be entitled to the
vesting and exercisability consequences under such Individual Agreement, but any such vesting and exercisability
benefits shall count toward satisfying the accelerated vesting and exercisability under Exhibit 1.

ii.

Upon a Change in Control Termination, the vesting and exercisability of the Executive’s Stock Options and other
Equity-Based Awards shall be accelerated to the extent provided in Exhibit 2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an
Executive who is covered under an Individual Agreement shall be entitled to the vesting and exercisability
consequences under such Individual Agreement, but any such vesting and exercisability benefits shall count toward
satisfying the accelerated vesting and exercisability under Exhibit 2.

Additional Change in Control Provisions .

A.Obligations of the Executive . The Executive agrees that in the event any person or group attempts a Change in Control, the
Executive shall not voluntarily leave the employ of the Company without Good Reason (i) until such attempted Change in
Control terminates or (ii) if a Change in Control shall occur, until ninety (90) days following such Change in Control.

B.Section 4999 Excise Tax .
i.

Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event it is determined that (a) any payment,
award, benefit or distribution (or any acceleration of any payment, award, benefit or distribution) by the Company (or
any of its subsidiaries) or any entity that effectuates a Change in Control (or any of its affiliated entities) to or for the
benefit of the Executive (whether pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise) (the " Payments ") would be subject to the
excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the " Excise Tax "), and (b) the reduction of the amounts
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payable to the Executive under this Agreement to the maximum amount that could be paid to the Executive without
giving rise to the Excise Tax (the " Safe Harbor Cap ") would provide the Executive with a greater after-tax amount
than if such amounts were not reduced, then the amounts payable to the Executive under this Agreement shall be
reduced (but not below zero) to the Safe Harbor Cap. The reduction of the amounts payable hereunder, if applicable,
shall be made to the extent necessary in the following order: (1) the acceleration of vesting of stock options with an
exercise price that exceeds the then fair market value of the stock subject to the award and of other equity awards,
provided that such the value of such acceleration is not permitted to be determined under Treasury Regulation
Section 1.280G-1, Q/A-24(c); (2) the payment under Sections 2.B and 2.C; (3) any equity awards accelerated
pursuant to Section 2.D or otherwise valued at full value, provided that the value of such acceleration is not permitted
to be determined under Treasury Regulation Section 1.280G-1, Q/A-24(c); (4) the acceleration of vesting of stock
options with an exercise price that exceeds the then fair market value of the stock subject to the award and other
equity awards, provided that the value of such acceleration is permitted to be determined under Treasury Regulation
Section 1.280G-1, Q/A-24(c); and (5) the acceleration of vesting of all other stock options and equity awards on a
basis resulting in the highest amount retained by the Executive. For purposes of reducing the Payments to the Safe
Harbor Cap, only amounts payable under this Agreement (and no other Payments) shall be reduced. If the reduction
of the amounts payable hereunder would not result in a greater after-tax result to the Executive, no amounts payable
under this Agreement shall be reduced pursuant to this provision.

ii.

All determinations required to be made under this Section 3.B shall be made by the public accounting firm that is
retained by the Company as of the date immediately prior to the Change in Control (the " Accounting Firm ") which
shall provide detailed supporting calculations both to the Company and the Executive within fifteen (15) business
days of the receipt of notice from the Company or the Executive that there has been a Payment, or such earlier time as
is requested by the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event (a) the Board shall determine prior to the
Change in Control that the Accounting Firm is precluded from performing such services under applicable auditor
independence rules or (b) the Audit Committee of the Board determines that it does not want the Accounting Firm to
perform such services because of auditor independence concerns or (c) the Accounting Firm is serving as accountant
or auditor for the person(s) effecting the Change in Control, the Board shall appoint another nationally recognized
public accounting firm to make the determinations required hereunder (which accounting firm shall then be referred
to as the Accounting Firm hereunder). All fees, costs and expenses (including, but not limited to, the costs of
retaining experts) of the Accounting Firm shall be borne by the Company. If Payments are reduced to the Safe
Harbor Cap or the Accounting Firm determines that no Excise Tax is payable by the Executive without a reduction in
Payments, the Accounting Firm shall provide a written opinion to the Executive to the effect that the Executive is not
required to report any Excise Tax on the Executive’s federal income tax return, and that the failure to report the
Excise Tax, if any, on the Executive’s applicable federal income tax return will not result in the imposition of a
negligence or similar penalty. The determination
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by the Accounting Firm shall be binding upon the Company and the Executive (except as provided in
Section 5.C below).

4.

iii.

If it is established pursuant to a final determination of a court or an Internal Revenue Service (the " IRS ") proceeding
which has been finally and conclusively resolved, that Payments have been made to, or provided for the benefit of,
the Executive by the Company which are in excess of the limitations provided in this Section (referred to hereinafter
as an " Excess Payment "), the Executive shall repay the Excess Payment to the Company on demand, together with
interest on the Excess Payment at the applicable federal rate (as defined in Section 1274(d) of the Code) from the date
of the Executive’s receipt of such Excess Payment until the date of such repayment. As a result of the uncertainty in
the application of Section 4999 of the Code at the time of the determination, it is possible that Payments which will
not have been made by the Company should have been made (an " Underpayment "), consistent with the calculations
required to be made under this Section. In the event that it is determined (a) by the Accounting Firm, the Company
(which shall include the position taken by the Company, or together with its consolidated group, on its federal income
tax return) or the IRS or (b) pursuant to a determination by a court, that an Underpayment has occurred, the Company
shall pay an amount equal to such Underpayment to the Executive within ten (10) days of such determination together
with interest on such amount at the applicable federal rate from the date such amount would have been paid to the
Executive until the date of payment. The Executive shall cooperate, to the extent the Executive’s expenses are
reimbursed by the Company, with any reasonable requests by the Company in connection with any contests or
disputes with the IRS in connection with the Excise Tax or the determination of the Excess Payment.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that amounts payable under this Agreement were reduced pursuant to
Section 3.B(i) and the present value of any Payment is subsequently re-determined by the Accounting Firm within the
context of Treasury Regulation Section 1.280G-1 Q/A 33 that reduces the value of the Payment, the Company shall
promptly pay to Executive any amounts payable under this Agreement that were not previously paid solely as a result
of Section 5.A, subject to the Safe Harbor Cap.

iv.

A payment or reimbursement of expenses described in this Section 3 shall be made promptly and in no event later
than December 31 of the year following the year in which such expenses were incurred, any reimbursement of
expenses incurred due to a tax audit or litigation shall be made no later than the end of the calendar year immediately
following the calendar year in which the taxes that are the subject of the audit or litigation are remitted to the taxing
authority, or, if no taxes are to be remitted, the end of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the audit
or litigation is completed, and the amount of such expenses eligible for payment or reimbursement in any year shall
not affect the amount of such expenses eligible for payment or reimbursement in any other year nor shall such right to
payment or reimbursement be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

Section 409A .
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A.In General . The parties intend that this Agreement and the benefits provided hereunder be interpreted and construed to comply
with Section 409A to the extent applicable thereto. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, this
Agreement shall be interpreted and construed consistent with this intent, provided that the Company shall not be required
to assume any increased economic burden in connection therewith. Although the Company intends to administer this
Agreement so that it will comply with the requirements of Section 409A, the Company does not represent or warrant that
this Agreement will comply with Section 409A or any other provision of federal, state, local or non-United States law.

B.Prohibition on Acceleration of Payments . The time or schedule of any payment or amount scheduled to be paid pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement, or pursuant to the terms of any other employment agreement or compensation arrangement
entered into between the Executive and the Company or any of its subsidiaries, may not be accelerated hereunder, or under
any such other employment agreement or other compensation arrangement, except as permitted under Section 409A.

C.Delay Period . In the event that any payment or distribution or portion of any payment or distribution to be made to the Executive
hereunder cannot be characterized as a "short-term deferral" for purposes of Section 409A and is not otherwise exempt
from the provisions of Section 409A, and the Executive is determined to be a "specified employee" under Section 409A,
such portion of the payment shall be delayed until the earlier to occur of the Executive’s death or the date that is six (6)
months after the Executive’s termination of employment with the Company and its subsidiaries (the " Delay Period ").
Upon the expiration of the Delay Period, the payments delayed pursuant to this Section 4.C shall be paid to the Executive
in a lump sum, and any remaining payments due under this Agreement shall be payable in accordance with their original
payment schedule.

5.

Miscellaneous .

A.Withholding Taxes . The Company may withhold from all payments due to the Executive hereunder all taxes which, by
applicable federal, state, local or other law, the Company is required to withhold therefrom.

B.Scope of Agreement . Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to entitle the Executive to continued employment with the
Company or its subsidiaries.

C.Successors; Binding Agreement .
i.

This Agreement shall not be terminated by any merger or consolidation of the Company whereby the Company is or
is not the surviving or resulting corporation or as a result of any transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company. In the event of any such merger, consolidation or transfer of assets, the provisions of this Agreement shall
be binding upon the surviving or resulting corporation or the person or entity to which such assets are transferred.

ii.

The Company agrees that concurrently with any merger, consolidation or transfer of assets referred to in
Section 5.C(i), it will cause any successor or transferee
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unconditionally to assume, by written instrument delivered to the Executive, all of the obligations of the Company
hereunder.

iii.

This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the Executive’s personal or legal representatives,
executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. If the Executive shall die while any
amounts would be payable to the Executive hereunder had the Executive continued to live, all such amounts, unless
otherwise provided herein, shall be paid in accordance with the terms of this Agreement to such person or persons
appointed in writing by the Executive to receive such amounts or, if no person is so appointed, to the Executive’s
estate.

D.Notices .
i.

For purposes of this Agreement, all notices and other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be in
writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered or five (5) days after deposit in the United States
mail, certified and return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed (a) if to the Executive, to the last known
residential address on file for the Executive with the Company, and if to the Company, [ For the applicable
executives: attention General Counsel, with a copy to the Secretary] [ For the General Counsel only: attention Chief
Executive Officer], or (b) to such other address as either party may have furnished to the other in writing in
accordance herewith, except that notices of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt.

ii.

A written notice of the Executive’s Termination Date by the Company or the Executive, as the case may be, to the
other, shall (a) indicate the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon, (b) to the extent applicable,
set forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of the Executive’s
employment under the provision so indicated and (c) specify the Termination Date (which date shall be not less than
fifteen (15) days after the giving of such notice). The failure by the Executive or the Company to set forth in such
notice any fact or circumstance which contributes to a showing of Good Reason or Cause shall not waive any right of
the Executive or the Company hereunder or preclude the Executive or the Company from asserting such fact or
circumstance in enforcing the Executive’s or the Company’s rights hereunder.

E.Governing Law; Validity . The interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by and
construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Illinois without regard to the principle of
conflicts of laws. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or
enforceability of any other provisions of this Agreement, which other provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

F.Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in two counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and both of
which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
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G. Entire Agreement . Except to the extent expressly provided herein, this Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between
the parties with respect to the Executive’s severance pay and benefits in the event of a termination of the Executive’s
employment with the Company and supersedes any other agreement, whether written or unwritten, with respect thereto.

6.

Full Settlement; Resolution of Disputes .

A.The Company’s obligation to make any payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations
hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the
Company may have against the Executive or others.

B.If there shall be any dispute between the Company and the Executive in the event of any termination of the Executive’s
employment, then unless and until there is a final, nonappealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction declaring
that such termination was for Cause or that the Company is not otherwise obligated to pay any amount or provide any
benefit to the Executive under Section 2, the Company shall pay all amounts, and provide all benefits, to the Executive that
the Company would be required to pay or provide pursuant to Section 2 as though such termination were by the Company
without Cause or by the Executive with Good Reason; provided , however , that the Company shall not be required to pay
any disputed amounts pursuant to this Section 6.B except upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Executive
to repay all such amounts to which the Executive is ultimately adjudged by such court not to be entitled.

C.If any contest or dispute shall arise under this Agreement involving termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company
or involving the failure or refusal of the Company to perform fully in accordance with the terms hereof, the Company shall
reimburse the Executive, on a current basis, for all legal fees and expenses, if any, incurred by the Executive in connection
with such contest or dispute; provided , however , that in the event the resolution of any such contest or dispute includes a
finding denying, in total, the Executive’s claims in such contest or dispute, the Executive shall be required to reimburse the
Company, over a period of twelve (12) months from the date of such resolution, for all sums advanced to the Executive
pursuant to this Section 6.C. Payment or reimbursement of expenses described in this Section 6.C shall be made promptly
and in no event later than December 31 of the year following the year in which such expenses were incurred, and the
amount of such expenses eligible for payment or reimbursement in any year shall not affect the amount of such expenses
eligible for payment or reimbursement in any other year nor shall the right to payment or reimbursement be subject to
liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

7.

Agreement Modification, Waiver, or Termination .

A.Subject to Section 7.B, no provision of this Agreement may be modified or waived unless such modification or waiver is agreed to
in writing and signed by the Executive and by a duly authorized officer of the Company. No waiver by either party hereto
at any time of any breach by the other party hereto of, or compliance with, any condition or provision of this Agreement to
be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the same or
at any prior or subsequent time. Failure
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by the Executive or the Company to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of this Agreement or to assert any right
the Executive or the Company may have hereunder, including, without limitation, the right of the Executive to terminate
employment for Good Reason, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or any other provision or right of
this Agreement.

B.The Company shall have the right prior to a Change in Control, in its sole discretion, pursuant to action by the Board, to approve
the termination of this Agreement, which termination shall not become effective until the date fixed by the Board for such
termination, which date shall be at least 120 days after notice thereof is given by the Company to the Executive in
accordance with Section 5.D; provided , however , that no such action shall be taken by the Board during any period of
time when the Board has knowledge that any person has taken steps reasonably calculated to effect a Change in Control
until, in the opinion of the Board, such person has abandoned or terminated its efforts to effect a Change in Control; and
provided , further , that in no event shall this Agreement be terminated during the one-year period commencing on the date
of a Change in Control.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company and the
Executive has executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.
Groupon, Inc.

By: _______________________

Executive

__________________________
NAME
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EXHIBIT 1
Vesting Acceleration Upon an Eligible Termination (Non-Change in Control Termination)
The effect on the Executive’s Equity-Based Awards of an Eligible Termination that is not a Change in Control Termination is as follows:
1. Immediately upon the Executive’s Termination Date, the portion of the Executive’s unvested Equity-Based Awards (whose vesting is
based solely on continued service over time) that is scheduled to vest during the ______ (___) month period beginning on the
Termination Date shall immediately vest. Additionally, Executive shall immediately vest in the amount of any outstanding
performance based equity awards for the annual performance period in which the Termination Date occurs equal to the lesser of (i)
the full number of shares for such performance based equity awards or (ii) the full number of such performance based shares
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the sum of the number of days of Executive’s employment during the annual
performance period in which the Termination Date occurs plus _____ days, and the denominator of which is the number of days in
such performance period, with the actual amount earned under such vested award, if any, to be based on and subject to actual
performance results as certified by the Committee following such performance period and paid within thirty (30) days of the
Committee’s certification.
2. Each of the Executive’s vested Stock Options shall remain exercisable following the Termination Date until the expiration of the term
of the Stock Option (as set forth in the Stock Option agreement).
3. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Exhibit 1, the timing of payment of any Equity-Based Award that provides for the
"deferral of compensation" (as such term is defined under Section 409A) may not be accelerated except as otherwise permitted under
Section 409A.
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EXHIBIT 2
Vesting Acceleration Upon a Change in Control Termination
The effect on the Executive’s Equity-Based Awards of a Change in Control Termination are as follows:
1. Immediately upon the Executive’s Termination Date, ____________ percent (____%) of the Executive’s outstanding EquityBased Awards (or equity awards granted in substitution therefor by an acquirer of, or successor to, the Company) that are not
otherwise vested shall become immediately vested, with any performance-based conditions for such awards (with respect to the
performance period in which the Termination Date occurs) deemed satisfied at the target level. In the event the Executive’s
employment is terminated in a Change in Control Termination on a date that precedes the Change in Control date, any Equity-Based
Awards that were accelerated by application of Exhibit 1 shall count toward satisfying the accelerated vesting described in the
preceding sentence.
2. Each of the Executive’s vested Stock Options shall remain exercisable following the Termination Date until the expiration of
the term of the Stock Option (as set forth in the Stock Option agreement).
3. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Exhibit 2, the timing of payment of any Equity-Based Award that provides
for the "deferral of compensation" (as such term is defined under Section 409A) may not be accelerated except as otherwise permitted
under Section 409A.
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ATTACHMENT A
Release of Claims
Waiver and General Release of Claims . (a) In exchange for the promises made by the Company in this Agreement, Employee
unconditionally waives and releases all known and unknown, suspected and unsuspected, accrued and unaccrued, fixed and contingent
claims and causes of action of any kind that he/she has or may have against the Company, its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, predecessors,
successors, divisions, affiliates, and its/their respective officers, directors, agents, attorneys, employees, employee benefit plans, plan
administrators, insurers, assignees, fiduciaries, administrators, trustees, and legal representatives, both past and present (collectively the
"Released Parties") from any and all known or unknown actions, causes of action, claims or liabilities of any kind which have been or could
be asserted against the Released Parties arising out of or related to his/her employment with and/or termination from employment with any of
the Released Parties and/or any other occurrence up to and including the date on which he/she signs this Waiver and Release (the "Effective
Date").
(b) The claims and causes of action Employee is releasing and waiving include, but are not limited to, any and all claims and causes of
action that the Released Parties or any of them:
(i) have violated any type of written or unwritten contract, agreement, understanding, policy, benefit, retirement and/or pension plan,
promise and/or covenant of any kind, including any covenant of good faith and fair dealing;
(ii) have discriminated against Employee on the basis of any characteristic or trait protected under any law, including but not limited
to race, color, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, ancestry, disability, religion, marital or parental status, citizenship, age, source of
income, or entitlement to benefits, in violation of any of the following statutes, as amended, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the
Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act ("ADEA"), the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the
Americans With Disabilities Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the National Labor Relations Act or any
other federal, state or local human rights, civil rights, wage and hour, pension or labor law, rule and/or regulation;
(iii) have violated public policy or common law, including but not limited to claims for personal injury, invasion of privacy,
retaliatory discharge, negligent hiring, retention or supervision, defamation, intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress and/or
mental anguish, intentional interference with contract, negligence, detrimental reliance, loss of consortium to Employee or any member of
his/her family, promissory estoppel; and/or
(iv) are in any way obligated for any reason to pay Employee damages, expenses, litigation costs (including attorney’s fees), wages,
bonuses, severance pay, separation pay, termination pay, any type of payments or benefits based on Employee’s separation from
employment, incentive pay, commissions, disability benefits or sick pay, compensatory damages, punitive damages, and/or interest.
Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude Employee from asserting any claim that cannot be waived by law, or from exercising his/her rights
to receive: (1) any sums to be paid or provided under this Agreement, or (2) any vested, accrued benefits to which he/she is (or becomes)
otherwise entitled pursuant to the terms of the employee benefit plans in which he/she is a participant immediately prior to the Separation
Date (collectively the "Exempted Claims").
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EMPLOYEE UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT, OTHER THAN THE EXEMPTED CLAIMS AND CLAIMS THAT
CANNOT BE WAIVED BY LAW, HE/SHE IS WAIVING AND RELEASING ANY AND ALL CLAIMS AGAINST THE
RELEASED PARTIES (INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, CLAIMS UNDER THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN
EMPLOYMENT ACT) TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT IN EXCHANGE FOR CONSIDERATION TO
WHICH HE/SHE IS NOT OTHERWISE ENTITLED.
(c) Employee acknowledges that nothing in this Agreement (including the Confidentiality, Non-Disclosure and Non-Disparagement
clauses herein) shall be construed to prevent or limit him/her from communicating with, filing a charge with, or participating in any
investigation conducted by, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC") or applicable state agency, the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), or any other federal, state or local government body or agency, without notice to or prior authorization
from the Company, or to prevent any challenge by him/her to the waiver and release of any claim under the ADEA. This provision does not
authorize Employee to disclose attorney-client privileged information of the Company.
(d) Employee agrees that he/she waives any and all entitlement to relief, including, but not limited to, any monetary damages and
equitable relief, with respect to any claim or cause of action released in this Agreement. This provision does not limit Employee’s right to
receive an award for information provided to the SEC.
(e) Employee further agrees that, to his/her knowledge, the Company has been in compliance with all laws up to and including the
date on which Employee signed this Agreement.
(f) Employee further waives and gives up any right to become, and promises not to consent to become, a member of any class or
collective action in a case in which claims are asserted against the Company that are related in any way to Employee’s employment or the
termination of Employee’s employment with the Company. If, without Employee’s prior knowledge and consent, Employee is made a
member of a class in any proceeding, Employee agrees to opt out of the class at the first opportunity.
(g) Employee agrees that his/her waiver and release of rights under this Agreement is knowing and voluntary and in compliance with
the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act of 1990 and he/she covenants and agrees that: (i) he/she has been given at least twenty-one (21)
days in which to consider, sign and return this Agreement to the Company; (ii) he/she is hereby being advised in writing to consult with an
attorney concerning this Agreement; and (iii) he/she will have seven (7) days from the date of signing to revoke this Agreement if he/she so
desires. Any revocation must be in writing, signed by him/her and must be received by Human Resources _________via email at ________,
within the revocation period to be deemed effective.
This Agreement shall be void and of no force and effect if Employee revokes it, but if he/she signs and does not revoke it, then it shall then
become effective and enforceable. Employee understands that if he/she revokes this Agreement, he/she will not receive the Consideration
provided under Paragraph 3 of this Agreement.
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Rich Williams, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Groupon, Inc.;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 3, 2017

/s/ Rich Williams
Rich Williams
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Michael Randolfi, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Groupon, Inc.;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 3, 2017

/s/ Michael Randolfi
Michael Randolfi
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
Certifications Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Groupon, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2017 , as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Rich Williams, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Michael Randolfi, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to our
knowledge, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
By:

/s/ Rich Williams
Rich Williams
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By:

/s/ Michael Randolfi
Michael Randolfi
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date:

May 3, 2017

